QUASI-CLASSICAL GROUND STATES. I. LINEARLY COUPLED PAULI-FIERZ HAMILTONIANS

SÉBASTIEN BRETEAUX, JÉRÉMY FAUPIN, AND JIMMY PAYET

ABSTRACT. We consider a spinless, non-relativistic particle bound by an external potential and linearly coupled to a quantized radiation field. The energy $\mathcal{E}(u,f)$ of product states of the form $u\otimes\Psi_f$, where u is a normalized state for the particle and Ψ_f is a coherent state in Fock space for the field, gives the energy of a Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger system. We minimize the functional $\mathcal{E}(u,f)$ on its natural energy space. We prove the existence and uniqueness of a ground state under general conditions on the coupling function. In particular, neither an ultraviolet cutoff nor an infrared cutoff is imposed. Our results establish the convergence in the ultraviolet limit of both the ground state and ground state energy of the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional, and provide the second-order asymptotic expansion of the ground state energy at small coupling.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1. Model and assumptions	4
1.2. Main results	$\frac{4}{7}$
1.3. Organisation of the paper	11
2. Preliminaries	11
2.1. Estimates on the electronic part	11
2.2. Some functional inequalities in Lorentz spaces	14
3. Proof of the main results	15
3.1. The Hartree energy functional	16
3.2. Existence of a minimizer	17
3.3. Uniqueness of the minimizer	18
3.4. Expansion of the ground state energy for small coupling constants	21
3.5. Ultraviolet limit	23
Appendix A. Operators in Fock space, self-adjointness	27
A.1. Operators in Fock space	27
A.2. Self-adjointness of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian	28
Appendix B. Existence of a minimizer for the Hartree equation	28
References	33

1. Introduction

We consider in this paper a non-relativistic, spinless quantum particle – say, an electron – in an external potential and coupled to a quantized, scalar radiation field. The Hilbert space

for the total system is given by

$$\mathcal{H} := \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{f}},$$

where $\mathcal{H}_{el} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ is the Hilbert space for the electron and \mathcal{H}_f is the Hilbert space for the field, given as the symmetric Fock space over the one-particle Hilbert space $\mathfrak{h} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. The full Hamiltonian is a self-adjoint operator acting on \mathcal{H} , of the form

$$\mathbb{H} := H_V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{el}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{\mathbf{f}} + \mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{int}}, \tag{1.1}$$

where $H_V = -\Delta + V$ is the Hamiltonian for the non-relativistic particle in the external potential V, $\mathbb{H}_{\rm f}$ is the Hamiltonian for the free field, \mathbf{I}_{\sharp} stands for the identity on \mathcal{H}_{\sharp} and $\mathbb{H}_{\rm int}$ is the interaction Hamiltonian, acting on \mathcal{H} . Such operators are usually called *Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians* [46] in the literature. Their spectral theory has been thoroughly studied since the end of the nineties, including in particular ground state properties (see, among others, [6–10, 20, 25, 30, 31, 34, 35, 39, 48, 49] and references therein).

We focus in this paper on the case of an electron *linearly coupled* to a scalar field. We consider an abstract class of linearly coupled Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian that includes the *Nelson model* [44] and the *Fröhlich polaron model* [23].

We aim at studying the energy of product states

$$\mathcal{E}(u,f) := \langle (u \otimes \Psi_f), \mathbb{H}(u \otimes \Psi_f) \rangle, \quad \|u\|_{\mathcal{H}_{el}} = 1, \quad \|\Psi_f\|_{\mathcal{H}_f} = 1, \tag{1.2}$$

assuming that the state of the quantized field, Ψ_f , is a coherent state parametrized by $f \in \mathfrak{h}$. The functional $\mathcal{E}(u, f)$ is sometimes called quasi-classical energy. Assuming indeed that the field degrees of freedom are 'almost classical', in the sense that the creation and annihilation operator a^* , a in \mathcal{H}_f are rescaled as $a_{\varepsilon}^* = \sqrt{\varepsilon}a^*$, $a_{\varepsilon} = \sqrt{\varepsilon}a$, see [4], one shows, under suitable assumptions, that the ground state energy of the rescaled Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian \mathbb{H}_{ε} converges, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, to the ground state energy of the quasi-classical energy functional (1.2), [15–17, 27]. In order for \mathbb{H}_{ε} to identify to a semi-bounded self-adjoint operator on \mathcal{H} , an ultraviolet cutoff is usually imposed to the interaction Hamiltonian.

As we recall below, the quasi-classical energy (1.2) coincides with the energy of a coupled *Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger* system. The variational and dynamical aspects of Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger systems have been studied in the recent mathematical literature (see [1–3, 15–17, 22]), as quasi-classical limits of Pauli-Fierz models. Existence of a ground state and of a dynamics associated to the non-linear energy functional (1.2) constitute essential ingredients of the analysis.

In this paper, under general conditions, we prove the existence of a ground state for the quasi-classical energy functional $\mathcal{E}(u, f)$ on its natural energy space. In particular, we consider a wide class of external potentials and we do not need to impose *neither an infrared nor an ultraviolet cutoff* into the interaction term of $\mathcal{E}(u, f)$.

For small coupling, we verify that the ground state of $\mathcal{E}(u, f)$ is unique. In general, the field parameter $f_{\rm gs}$ of the ground state $(u_{\rm gs}, f_{\rm gs})$ does not necessarily belong to the original one-particle Hilbert space \mathfrak{h} . For massless fields, we will see that $f_{\rm gs}$ belongs to \mathfrak{h} if and only if an infrared regularization is imposed. On the other hand, no ultraviolet cutoff is needed: Denoting by Λ the ultraviolet parameter associated to the ultraviolet cutoff introduced into the interaction Hamiltonian, our results show that both the ground states and ground state energies associated to (1.2) converge as $\Lambda \to \infty$.

We also study the difference between the ground state energy for the microscopic model and its quasi-classical counterpart,

$$\inf \sigma(\mathbb{H}) - \inf_{(u,f)} \mathcal{E}(u,f), \tag{1.3}$$

where $\sigma(\mathbb{H})$ stands for the spectrum of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} . The expansion up to second order in the coupling constant of this expression reveals that the ground state energy inf $\sigma(\mathbb{H})$ can be divided into two terms: a 'coherent term', given by $\inf_{(u,f)} \mathcal{E}(u,f)$, and a second term due to the contribution from the excited states of the electronic Hamiltonian.

Our argument to prove the existence of a ground state relies on usual strategies from the calculus of variations. The main novelty comes from the possible absence of infrared and ultraviolet cutoffs in the interaction. This produces singular terms with a critical behavior in the energy functional that we handle using, in particular, suitable estimates in Lorentz spaces. The use of weak versions of Hölder and Young's inequalities in Lorentz spaces seems to be new in the present context. It constitutes one of the main technical tools in our argument.

The ultraviolet convergence of the ground state and the asymptotic expansion of (1.3) at small coupling also seem to be new. In order to establish them (as well as the uniqueness of the ground state), we project a non-linear eigenvalue equation associated to the minimization problem onto the vector space associated to the ground state of the electronic Hamiltonian and its orthogonal complement.

In a companion paper [14], we will study the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian of a non-relativistic particle with spin $\frac{1}{2}$ coupled to the quantized radiation field in the standard model of non-relativistic QED. In this case, the quasi-classical energy coincides with the energy of a coupled Maxwell–Schrödinger system.

In the remainder of this section, we begin by introducing in Section 1.1 the abstract class of Hamiltonians we consider and our main hypotheses. Next, in Section 1.2, we state our main results.

Notations. We recall that for $1 \leq p < \infty$, the Lorentz spaces (or weak L^p spaces) $L^{p,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ are defined as the set of (equivalence classes of) measurable functions $f: \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$||f||_{L^{p,\infty}} := \sup_{t>0} \lambda \left(\{|f| > t\}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} t \tag{1.4}$$

is finite, where λ denotes Lebesgue's measure.

The usual Fourier transform acting on tempered distribution is denoted by \mathcal{F} with inverse $(2\pi)^{-3}\bar{\mathcal{F}}$. (We use the normalization $\mathcal{F}(f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{-ix\cdot\xi} f(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi$ for f in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$, and hence $\bar{\mathcal{F}}(f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{ix\cdot\xi} f(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi$. This normalization is not the standard one but it is convenient in our context.) Throughout the paper, we use the following convention. Let f, g be functions associated to tempered distributions. Assume that $\mathcal{F}(g)$ identifies with a function such that $f\mathcal{F}(g)$ can be associated to a tempered distribution. We write

$$\mathcal{F}(f) * g := (2\pi)^{-3} \mathcal{F}(f\bar{\mathcal{F}}(g)). \tag{1.5}$$

This convention extends the well-known equality which holds e.g. if f and g are in L^1 or f is in L^2 and g in L^1 .

In several places, we will use localization functions in $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ denoted by η and such that $0 \leq \eta \leq 1$, $\eta(x) = 1$ if $|x| \leq 1$ and $\eta(x) = 0$ if $|x| \geq 2$. We define the non-negative

function $\tilde{\eta}$ by

$$\eta^2 + \tilde{\eta}^2 = 1,$$

and for all R > 0, we set

$$\eta_R(x) := \eta(x/R) \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{\eta}_R(x) := \tilde{\eta}(x/R).$$
 (1.6)

If \mathcal{H}_1 , \mathcal{H}_2 are two Hilbert spaces, $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_2)$ stands for the set of bounded linear operators from \mathcal{H}_1 to \mathcal{H}_2 . Given a linear operator A on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , we denote by $\mathcal{D}(A)$ its domain and $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ its form domain.

- 1.1. Model and assumptions. Before defining the abstract class of linearly coupled Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians we consider, we introduce our conditions on the electronic Hamiltonian H_V .
- 1.1.1. The electronic Hamiltonian. We suppose that the non-relativistic particle is spinless and bound by an external potential. The Hilbert space and Hamiltonian for the particle are given by

$$\mathcal{H}_{el} := L^2(\mathbb{R}^3), \quad H_V = -\Delta + V(x), \tag{1.7}$$

where $V: \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ is a real potential. We display the dependence on V since one of our main hypotheses (see Hypothesis 1) assumes the existence of a decomposition $V = V_1 + V_2$ such that $V_1 \geq 0$, V_2 vanishes at ∞ and there is a gap between the ground state energies of H_V and H_{V_1} .

The main examples we have in mind are confining potentials, $V(x) \to \infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$, and Coulomb-type potentials, $V(x) = -c|x|^{-1}$ with c > 0. We introduce general hypotheses on V that are fulfilled by a large class of potentials, including the two preceding examples. As we will see below, some of our main results have interesting consequences in special cases, especially when V is confining.

We set

$$\mu_V := \inf \sigma(H_V),$$

and likewise if V is replaced by another potential. For $U: \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$, we denote by

$$U_{+} := \max(U, 0), \quad U_{-} := \max(-U, 0),$$

the positive and negative parts of U, respectively, so that $U = U_+ - U_-$.

We make the following hypothesis.

Hypothesis 1 (Conditions on V). There exist $0 \le a < 1$ and b in \mathbb{R} such that the negative part of V satisfies

$$V_{-} < -a\Delta + b$$
,

in the sense of quadratic forms on $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Moreover, V decomposes as $V = V_1 + V_2$ with

- (i) $V_1 \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^+),$
- (ii) $V_2 \in L^{3/2}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}) \ and \lim_{|x| \to \infty} V_2(x) = 0,$
- (iii) $\mu_V < \mu_{V_1}$.

We have the following accompanying remarks (we refer to Section 2.1 for justifications). Since $V_+ \geq 0$, $H_{V_+} = -\Delta + V_+$ identifies with a non-negative self-adjoint operator on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ with form domain

$$\mathcal{Q}(H_{V_+}) = \mathcal{Q}(-\Delta) \cap \mathcal{Q}(V_+) = \left\{ u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \mid \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} V_+(x) |u(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x < +\infty \right\}.$$

Moreover, it follows from our hypotheses that H_V identifies with a semi-bounded self-adjoint operator with form domain

$$Q_V := Q(H_V) = Q(H_{V_+}) = Q(H_{V_1}),$$

and that Q_V is a Hilbert space for the norm

$$||u||_{\mathcal{Q}_V}^2 := ||u||_{H^1}^2 + ||(V_+)^{\frac{1}{2}}u||_{L^2}^2.$$
(1.8)

In particular, μ_V and μ_{V_1} are well-defined. We will most of the time consider a state u in

$$\mathcal{U} := \{ u \in \mathcal{Q}_V \mid ||u||_{L^2} = 1 \}. \tag{1.9}$$

In order to obtain uniqueness of minimizers, we require that the Schrödinger Hamiltonian H_V has a unique ground state. By Perron-Froebenius arguments, it is well-known that, under suitable conditions on V, if μ_V is an eigenvalue of H_V then it is simple and there exists a corresponding strictly positive eigenstate (see e.g. [47, Theorems XIII.46 and XIII.48]). We make the following related hypothesis.

Hypothesis 2 (Ground state of H_V). The ground state energy μ_V of the particle Hamiltonian H_V is a simple isolated eigenvalue associated to a unique positive ground state u_V in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}_+)$, such that $||u_V||_{L^2} = 1$.

The orthogonal projection onto the vector space spanned by u_V is denoted by Π_V . We also set $\Pi_V^{\perp} := \mathbf{I} - \Pi_V$.

1.1.2. Linearly coupled Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians. We suppose that the radiation field is a scalar, bosonic field with Hilbert space given by the symmetric Fock space

$$\mathcal{H}_{f} := \mathfrak{F}_{s}(L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \bigvee^{n} L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}). \tag{1.10}$$

In the momentum representation, the free field Hamiltonian is the second quantization of the multiplication operator by $\omega(k)$,

$$\mathbb{H}_{\mathbf{f}} := \mathrm{d}\Gamma(\omega(k)),\tag{1.11}$$

where $\omega : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is a non-negative measurable function. See Appendix A for the precise definition of second quantized operators. The coupling between the electron and the field is linear in the creation and annihilation operators, given by

$$\mathbb{H}_{\text{int}} := g\sqrt{2}\Phi(h_x),\tag{1.12}$$

where g in \mathbb{R} is a coupling constant, $\Phi(h)$, for h in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, denotes the field operator (see Appendix A for the definitions of the field, creation and annihilation operators), and

$$h_x(k) := v(k)e^{-ikx}, (1.13)$$

for all x in \mathbb{R}^3 , where $v: \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ is a coupling function.

This framework covers several models of interest:

- The Nelson model [44], with the relativistic dispersion relation $\omega(k) := \sqrt{k^2 + m^2}$ corresponding to a field of mass $m \geq 0$, and the coupling function $v(k) = \omega(k)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\chi(k)$ with v in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Here, in particular, χ incorporates an ultraviolet cutoff. Moreover, without infrared regularization, $\chi = 1$ near k = 0, while if an infrared regularization is imposed, one assumes that $\chi(0) = 0$.
- The Fröhlich polaron model [23], with $\omega(k) = 1$ and $v(k) = |k|^{-1}$.
- The phonon Hamiltonian of solid state physic (see e.g. [36]), with a bounded dispersion relation $\omega : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\omega(k) \sim c|k|$ near k = 0 in the case of acoustic phonons, or $0 < c_1 \le \omega(k) \le c_2$ in the case of optical phonons. Here c, c_1, c_2 are positive constants. Moreover, $v(k) = |k|^{\frac{1}{2}}\chi(k)$, with v in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and $\chi = 1$ near k = 0.

Assuming that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{v^2}{\omega} < \infty,\tag{1.14}$$

it is not difficult to verify that, for all values of the coupling constant g, the total Hamiltonian

$$\mathbb{H} = H_V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{f}} + g\sqrt{2}\Phi(h_x), \tag{1.15}$$

is a semi-bounded self-adjoint operator with form domain

$$Q(\mathbb{H}) = Q(\mathbb{H}_{\text{free}}), \quad \mathbb{H}_{\text{free}} := H_V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\text{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\text{el}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{\text{f}}.$$
 (1.16)

See Appendix A for details. The domains of \mathbb{H} and \mathbb{H}_{free} in fact also coincide in this case. Note that the condition (1.14) is satisfied in the case of the Nelson model and the phonon model, but not for the polaron model. In the latter case, one can still prove that \mathbb{H} identifies with a self-adjoint operator with form domain $\mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H}) = \mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H}_{free})$, see [32].

1.1.3. Klein-Gordon-Schrödinger energy. For f in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, the coherent state of parameter f is denoted by

$$\Psi_f := e^{i\Phi(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{i}f)} \Omega \in \mathcal{H}_f,$$

where Ω stands for the Fock vacuum. Let u in \mathcal{U} and let f in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ be such that $\omega^{1/2}f$ belongs to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. A simple computation shows that the energy of the product state $u \otimes \Psi_f$ is given by

$$\langle (u \otimes \Psi_f), \mathbb{H}(u \otimes \Psi_f) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \mathcal{E}(u, f)$$
 (1.17)

(see Appendix A) where

$$\mathcal{E}(u,f) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\vec{\nabla} u(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} V(x)|u(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \omega(k)|f(k)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}k$$
$$+ 2g \, \mathfrak{Re} \int_{\mathbb{R}^6} e^{ikx} v(k)f(k)|u(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}k \,. \tag{1.18}$$

Hence we obtain the energy of a coupled Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger system, the coupling being given by the last term in (1.18).

We aim at proving the existence and uniqueness of a minimizer for the energy functional \mathcal{E} , under suitable assumptions on ω and v. The natural energy space for $\mathcal{E}(u, f)$ is $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{Z}_{\omega}$ where

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\omega} := \left\{ f : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{C} \text{ measurable } | \omega^{1/2} f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, dk) \right\}.$$

We make the following hypothesis on v which, combined with Hypothesis 1, ensures that \mathcal{E} is well-defined on $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{Z}_{\omega}$ (see Proposition 3.1 and Lemma B.1 below). Recall also that v is real-valued and ω is supposed to be a non-negative measurable function.

Hypothesis 3 (Condition on v). The map $W := g^2 \omega^{-1} v^2$ decomposes as $W = W_1 + W_2$ with

- (i) $W_1 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$,
- (ii) $W_2 \in L^{3,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$.

It should be noted that this hypothesis covers all the examples previously mentioned (the Nelson, polaron and phonons Hamiltonians). Indeed, Hypothesis 3 is satisfied if one assumes that $\omega^{-1}v^2$ belongs to $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and that

$$|\omega^{-1}(k)v^2(k)| \le C_1|k|^{-3+\varepsilon} \mathbf{1}_{|k| \le 1} + C_2|k|^{-1} \mathbf{1}_{|k| \ge 1}, \quad \varepsilon > 0,$$

for some positive constants C_1 , C_2 . This follows from the facts that $|k|^{-3+\varepsilon}\mathbf{1}_{|k|\leq 1}$ is in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ while $|k|^{-1}\mathbf{1}_{|k|\geq 1}$ is in $L^{3,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$. We emphasize in particular that, for the Nelson model, no infrared regularization is required and the ultraviolet cutoff can be removed, taking $v(k) = |k|^{-1/2}$ and $\omega(k) = \sqrt{k^2 + m^2}$, $m \geq 0$.

- 1.2. **Main results.** We are now ready to state our main results. For clarity we decompose the presentation into a few subsections.
- 1.2.1. Infrared problem for Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger. We begin with a relatively simple property, which we refer to as the 'infrared problem', keeping the usual terminology from QED. Since, in general, \mathcal{Z}_{ω} is not contained in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, the field component $f_{\rm gs}$ of a minimizer $(u_{\rm gs}, f_{\rm gs})$ of the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional over $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{Z}_{\omega}$ may not belong to the original one-particle Hilbert space $\mathfrak{h} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. This formally corresponds to the fact that the coherent state $\Psi_{f_{\rm gs}}$ does not belong to Fock space. On the other hand, if $f_{\rm gs}$ belongs to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, then, using in addition that $u_{\rm gs}$ belongs to \mathcal{Q}_V and $f_{\rm gs}$ to \mathcal{Z}_{ω} , one easily verifies that $u_{\rm gs} \otimes \Psi_{f_{\rm gs}}$ belongs to $\mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H})$, so that the Pauli-Fierz energy (1.17) in the state $u_{\rm gs} \otimes \Psi_{f_{\rm gs}}$ is well-defined.

The next proposition provides both a necessary and a sufficient condition ensuring that f_{gs} belongs to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$.

Proposition 1.1. Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and W satisfies Hypothesis 3. If (u_{gs}, f_{gs}) is a minimizer of the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional over $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{Z}_{\omega}$, then

$$\frac{v}{\omega} \mathbf{1}_{|k| \leq 1} + \frac{v}{|k|\omega} \mathbf{1}_{|k| \geq 1} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \implies f_{\mathrm{gs}} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \implies \frac{v}{\omega} \mathbf{1}_{|k| \leq 1} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3).$$

Considering the massless Nelson model where $\omega(k) = |k|$ and $v(k) = |k|^{-1/2}\chi(k)$, the previous conditions reduce to

$$k \mapsto |k|^{-5/2} \chi(k) \mathbf{1}_{|k| \ge 1} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \quad \text{and} \quad k \mapsto |k|^{-3/2} \chi(k) \mathbf{1}_{|k| \le 1} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3).$$

Thus, in order to have that f_{gs} belongs to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, it is necessary to impose an infrared regularization, but no ultraviolet regularization is needed. Note that the presence of an infrared regularization is also necessary to have the existence of a ground state for the massless Nelson Hamiltonian [21, 26, 43], while it is well-known that the Nelson Hamiltonian is renormalizable in the ultraviolet limit [44].

For the Fröhlich polaron model, we have $\omega = 1$, hence $\mathcal{Z}_{\omega} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and the previous proposition is trivial.

1.2.2. Existence of a ground state. One of our main results is the following theorem which provides the existence of a ground state for the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional under our general assumptions on V and W.

Theorem 1.2 (Existence of a ground state). Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and W satisfies Hypothesis 3. There exists $C_V > 0$ such that, if the decompositions $V = V_1 + V_2$ and $W = W_1 + W_2$ as in Hypotheses 1 and 3, respectively, can be chosen such that

$$||W_1||_{L^1} + C_V ||W_2||_{L^{3,\infty}} \le \delta(\mu_{V_1} - \mu_V) \tag{1.19}$$

and

$$C||W_2||_{L^{3,\infty}} \le \frac{1}{2}(1-a),$$
 (1.20)

for some universal constants $C, \delta > 0$ and where a is given by Hypothesis 1, then the Klein-Gordon-Schrödinger energy functional (1.18) has a minimizer over $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{Z}_{\omega}$.

We have the following accompanying remarks concerning the smallness conditions (1.19) and (1.20).

Remark 1.3. The smallness condition (1.20) only concerns the term W_2 in $L^{3,\infty}$ of W, not the term W_1 in L^1 . Moreover, in the case of a confining potential, $V(x) \to \infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$, the condition (1.19) is automatically satisfied provided one suitably chooses the potential V_1 , see Lemma 2.2. This implies that if V is confining and $W_2 = 0$, then a minimizer exists for any g in \mathbb{R} . In fact, for the special case of a confining potential, one can prove the existence of a minimizer by simpler arguments than those we use in the proof of Theorem 1.2, since in this case the relative compactness of minimizing sequences can easily be deduced from the confining assumption.

Remark 1.4. Our assumptions cover the critical case $\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W)(x) = g^2|x|^{-2}$ of the Hartree equation (1.21) (taking $W(k) = cg^2|k|^{-1}$ in $L^{3,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$), which has been studied e.g. in [19, 33]. In particular, with $\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W)(x) = g^2|x|^{-2}$, it has been proven in [19, 33] that the Hartree energy has no minimizer for g larger than some critical value g^* . Hence the smallness condition (1.20) in Theorem 1.2 cannot be removed.

The proof of Theorem 1.2 follows from observing that (u, f) is a minimizer for the Klein-Gordon-Schrödinger energy functional (1.18) if and only if it is of the form (u, f_u) where the field parameter satisfies $f_u = -g\omega^{-1}v\mathcal{F}(|u|^2)$ and where u minimizes the Hartree energy

$$J(u) = \langle u, H_V u \rangle_{L_x^2} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2)(x) |u(x)|^2 dx, \quad u \in \mathcal{U}.$$
 (1.21)

Our strategy then rests on usual arguments from the calculus of variations [41, 42]. Existence of minimizers for the Hartree energy has been studied by many authors in different contexts (see e.g. [3, 5, 19, 24, 29, 33, 38, 40–42] and references therein). We are not aware, however, of a result giving the existence of a minimizer under our general conditions on V and W. The main difficulties come from the fact that we consider external potentials with possibly both a confining and a negative part, the latter vanishing at infinity, and, more importantly, that our assumptions on the convolution term in the Hartree energy (1.21) concerns the

Fourier transform of the usual pair potential, with possibly a critical behavior corresponding to the term W_2 in $L^{3,\infty}$. Such critical terms are due to the fact that we do not impose an ultraviolet cutoff into the interaction. To handle them, we have to rely on suitable estimates in Lorentz spaces whose use, to our knowledge, seems to be new in the context of minimizing the Hartree energy functional. For completeness, we provide a complete proof of the existence of a minimizer for (1.21) under our conditions in Appendix B.

We mention that the minimization problem for $\mathcal{E}(u, f)$ has been studied in the recent paper [3], in the particular case of the massive Nelson model with V confining, the dispersion relation $\omega(k) = \sqrt{k^2 + m^2}$ and $v(k) = \omega(k)^{-1/2}\chi(k)$ with χ a smooth compactly supported function. Our results cover this particular case.

1.2.3. Uniqueness of the ground state and expansion of the ground state energy at small coupling. Our next concern is the question of the uniqueness of the ground state for the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional. To establish it, we need to strengthen our assumptions, assuming that the electronic Hamiltonian H_V has a unique ground state as stated in Hypothesis 2 and that the coupling is sufficiently small. Of course, uniqueness of a minimizer for $\mathcal{E}(u, f)$ only holds up to a phase, since $\mathcal{E}(u, f) = \mathcal{E}(e^{i\theta}u, f)$ for any θ in \mathbb{R} .

Theorem 1.5 (Uniqueness of the ground state). Suppose that V satisfies Hypotheses 1 and 2 and that W satisfies Hypothesis 3. There exists $\varepsilon_V > 0$ such that, if

$$||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \leq \varepsilon_V,$$

then the Klein-Gordon-Schrödinger energy functional (1.18) has a unique minimizer (u_{gs}, f_{gs}) in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{Z}_{\omega}$ such that $\langle u_{gs}, u_V \rangle_{L^2} > 0$.

Under the conditions of the previous theorem, recalling that $W = g^2 \omega^{-1} v^2$, we can now compute the asymptotic expansion of the ground state energy as the coupling constant g goes to 0.

Proposition 1.6 (Expansion of the ground state energy at small coupling). *Under the conditions of Theorem 1.5*, we have

$$\min_{(u,f)\in\mathcal{U}\times\mathcal{Z}_{\omega}} \mathcal{E}(u,f) = \mu_{V} - g^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1}v^{2}) * |u_{V}|^{2} \right) (x) |u_{V}(x)|^{2} dx + \mathcal{O}(g^{4}), \tag{1.22}$$

as $q \to 0$.

To obtain uniqueness of the minimizer, as well as the expansion (1.22), we use that any minimizer of (1.21) is a non-linear Hartree eigenstate and project the non-linear eigenvalue equation to the vector space spanned by the electronic ground state u_V and its orthogonal complement.

As mentioned above, in the case where $W_2=0$, i.e. $W=g^2\omega^{-1}v^2$ is in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$, the Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} in (1.15) identifies with a semi-bounded self-adjoint operator. Hence we can compare the ground state energy of \mathbb{H} with its quasi-classical counterpart:

Proposition 1.7 (Comparison with the ground state energy of \mathbb{H}). Under the conditions of Theorem 1.5, with W in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$, we have

$$\inf \sigma(\mathbb{H}) - \mathcal{E}(u_{gs}, f_{gs})$$

$$= -g^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v(k)^2 \langle u_V, e^{ikx} \Pi_V^{\perp} (H_V - \mu_V + |k|)^{-1} \Pi_V^{\perp} e^{-ikx} u_V \rangle_{L_x^2} dk + o(g^2),$$
as $g \to 0$.

The term of order g^2 of the asymptotic expansion given by Proposition 1.7 can be rewritten as

$$\inf \sigma(\mathbb{H}) - \mathcal{E}(u_{gs}, f_{gs})$$

$$= -g^2 \left\langle u_V \otimes \Omega, a(h_x) (\Pi_V^{\perp} \otimes \mathbf{I}_f) (\mathbb{H}_{free} - \mu_V)^{-1} (\Pi_V^{\perp} \otimes \mathbf{I}_f) a^*(h_x) u_V \otimes \Omega \right\rangle + o(g^2).$$

It should be compared with the term of order g^2 in the asymptotic expansion (1.22) of the quasi-classical ground state energy $\mathcal{E}(u_{\rm gs}, f_{\rm gs})$, which is given by

$$-g^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1}v^{2}) * |u_{V}|^{2} \right) (x) |u_{V}(x)|^{2} dx$$

$$= -g^{2} \left\langle u_{V} \otimes \Omega, a(h_{x}) (\Pi_{V} \otimes \Pi_{\Omega}^{\perp}) \left(\mathbb{H}_{\text{free}} - \mu_{V} \right)^{-1} (\Pi_{V} \otimes \Pi_{\Omega}^{\perp}) a^{*}(h_{x}) u_{V} \otimes \Omega \right\rangle, \qquad (1.23)$$

where Π_{Ω} is the projection onto the Fock vacuum and $\Pi_{\Omega}^{\perp} := \mathbf{I} - \Pi_{\Omega}$. Hence we see that, at second order in the coupling constant, the ground state energy of \mathbb{H} can be divided into two terms: a 'coherent' term which is independent of the excited electronic eigenstates, and a 'non-coherent' term which sums the contributions from these excited states. In particular, defining $\delta_V := \operatorname{dist}(\mu_V, \sigma(H_V) \setminus \{\mu_V\})$ the distance between μ_V and the rest of the spectrum of H_V , we deduce from the previous expressions that if δ_V is large, then the non-coherent term is small and hence the coherent term becomes a good approximation to the ground state energy of \mathbb{H} .

1.2.4. Ultraviolet limit. We suppose here that the coupling function is cut-off in the ultraviolet, i.e. that it is of the form $v_{\Lambda} = v \mathbf{1}_{|k| \leq \Lambda}$ for some ultraviolet parameter $0 < \Lambda < \infty$. We are interested in the ultraviolet limit $\Lambda \to \infty$. We write

$$W_{\Lambda} := g^2 \omega^{-1} v_{\Lambda} = W \mathbf{1}_{|k| < \Lambda},$$

and note that if W satisfies Hypothesis 3, then for all $\Lambda > 0$, W_{Λ} is in L^1 (this follows from the weak Hölder inequality, see (2.12) below). The fact that W_{Λ} belongs to L^1 in turn ensures that the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian

$$\mathbb{H}_{\Lambda} := H_V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{f}} + g\Phi(h_{\Lambda,x}), \quad h_{\Lambda,x}(k) := v_{\Lambda}(k)e^{-ikx},$$

identifies to a self-adjoint operator (see Appendix A).

Let \mathcal{E}_{Λ} be the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional with an ultraviolet cutoff, i.e. \mathcal{E}_{Λ} is given by (1.18) with v_{Λ} instead of v. The next proposition establishes the convergence of the ground state energies in the ultraviolet limit. Note that the assumptions are rather weak. In particular they do not necessarily imply the existence of a ground state for \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{E}_{Λ} .

Proposition 1.8 (Ultraviolet limit of the ground state energies). Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that W satisfies Hypothesis 3. Then

$$\inf_{(u,f)\in\mathcal{U}\times\mathcal{Z}_{\omega}}\mathcal{E}_{\Lambda}(u,f) \longrightarrow \inf_{\Lambda\to\infty} \inf_{(u,f)\in\mathcal{U}\times\mathcal{Z}_{\omega}}\mathcal{E}(u,f).$$

Under conditions ensuring that \mathcal{E}_{Λ} and \mathcal{E} have unique minimizers, we can also establish the convergence of the ground states of \mathcal{E}_{Λ} to the ground state of \mathcal{E} , as $\Lambda \to \infty$.

Proposition 1.9 (Ultraviolet limit of the ground states). Suppose that V satisfies Hypotheses 1 and 2 and that W satisfies Hypothesis 3. There exists $\varepsilon_V > 0$ such that, if

$$||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \le \varepsilon_V,$$

then for all $\Lambda > 0$, \mathcal{E}_{Λ} and \mathcal{E} have unique minimizers $(u_{\Lambda,gs}, f_{\Lambda,gs})$ and (u_{gs}, f_{gs}) in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{Z}_{\omega}$, respectively, such that $\langle u_{\Lambda,gs}, u_V \rangle_{L^2} > 0$ and $\langle u_{gs}, u_V \rangle_{L^2} > 0$. They satisfy

$$\|(u_{\Lambda,gs},f_{\Lambda,gs})-(u_{gs},f_{gs})\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V\times\mathcal{Z}_\omega}\underset{\Lambda\to\infty}{\longrightarrow} 0.$$

The proofs of Propositions 1.8 and 1.9 are not straightforward. The main difficulty comes from the fact that, in general, W_{Λ} does not converge to W in $L^1 + L^{3,\infty}$. To circumvent this difficulty, we use a convergence property in a weaker sense, based on a suitable application of Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem.

1.3. Organisation of the paper. Our paper is essentially self-contained. It is organized as follows. Section 2 is a preliminary section containing several technical estimates that we subsequently use in Section 3 to establish our main results. In Appendix A, we recall the definitions of standard objects related to second quantization as well as the self-adjointness of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} . Appendix B contains a proof of the existence of a minimizer for the Hartree energy functional under our conditions.

Acknowledgements. The research of S.B. was partly done during a CNRS sabbatical semester.

2. Preliminaries

In this preliminary section, we gather several technical estimates that are useful for our concern. The first subsection mainly concerns the electronic Hamiltonian H_V . In a second subsection, we prove some functional estimates in Lorentz spaces that are used in Section 3 in a crucial way to control the interactions terms of the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional.

2.1. Estimates on the electronic part. Recall that our assumptions on the external potential V of the electronic Hamiltonian $H_V = -\Delta + V$ have been introduced in Section 1.1. We begin with a few remarks showing that H_V is well-defined and that its form domain satisfies $\mathcal{Q}(H_V) = \mathcal{Q}(H_{V_+}) = \mathcal{Q}(H_{V_1})$, with V_1 as in Hypothesis 1.

First, V_- is form bounded with respect to $-\Delta$ with a relative bound less than 1, by Hypothesis 1. Thus V_- is also form bounded with respect to H_{V_+} with a relative bound less than 1, and hence the KLMN Theorem (see e.g. [47, Theorem X.17]) implies that H_V identifies with a semi-bounded self-adjoint operator with form domain $\mathcal{Q}(H_V) = \mathcal{Q}(H_{V_+})$.

Next, Hypothesis 1(ii) implies that V_2 is relatively form bounded with respect to $-\Delta$ with relative bound 0. Indeed, for R large enough, we have $V_2\mathbf{1}_{|x|\geq R}\in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3)$ since $V_2(x)\to 0$ as $|x|\to\infty$, while $V_2\mathbf{1}_{|x|\leq R}\in L^{3/2}(B_R)$ with $B_R:=\{x\in\mathbb{R}^3\,|\,|x|\leq R\}$, since $V_2\in L^{3/2}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Therefore $V_2\in L^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)+L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and hence we can apply [47, Theorem X.19] to deduce that V_2 is infinitesimally form-bounded with respect to $-\Delta$. In turn, since $V_+-V_1=V_2+V_-$ is form bounded with respect to $-\Delta$, it is not difficult to verify that $\mathcal{Q}(H_{V_+})=\mathcal{Q}(H_{V_1})$.

Recall the notation $Q_V = Q(H_V)$. We begin with the following easy lemma.

Lemma 2.1. Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1. Then, for all u in Q_V ,

$$||u||_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{1-a} (\langle u, H_{V}u \rangle + b||u||_{L^{2}}^{2}). \tag{2.1}$$

Proof. The positivity of V_+ and the bound on V_- from Hypothesis 1 yield, for u in \mathcal{Q}_V ,

$$\langle u, H_V u \rangle \ge \|u\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - \langle u, V_- u \rangle \ge \|u\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - a\langle u, -\Delta u \rangle - b\|u\|_{L^2}^2 = (1-a)\|u\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - b\|u\|_{L^2}^2,$$
 which proves the result.

The next lemma shows that, for confining potentials V, the gap $\mu_{V_1} - \mu_V$ can be made as large as we want, provided that the potential V_1 is suitably chosen.

Lemma 2.2. Suppose that $V = V_{+} - V_{-}$ is such that

- (i) $V_+ \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3)$,
- (ii) $V_{-} \in L^{3/2}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3)$,
- (iii) $V(x) \to \infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$.

Then, for all C > 0, there exist a decomposition $V = V_{1,C} + V_{2,C}$ as in Hypothesis 1 such that, moreover,

$$\mu_{V_{1,C}} - \mu_V \ge C.$$

Proof. Recall that the localizations functions η_R , $\tilde{\eta}_R$ have been defined in (1.6). Let C > 0. We set

$$V_{1,C} = V_+ + 2C\eta_R^2, \quad V_{2,C} = -V_- - 2C\eta_R^2.$$

Observe that $V_{1,C} + V_{2,C} = V_+ - V_- = V$. Moreover, since $V(x) \to \infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$, we have that $V_-(x) = 0$ for |x| large enough. Hence, since in addition η_R^2 is smooth and compactly supported, one sees that the decomposition $V = V_{1,C} + V_{2,C}$ satisfies the conditions of Hypothesis 1 for any R.

Now we verify that $\mu_{V_{1,C}} - \mu_V > C$ for suitably chosen R. Using the IMS localization formula (see e.g. [18]), we write

$$\mu_{V_{1,C}} = \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}} \left(\langle (\eta_R^2 + \tilde{\eta}_R^2) u, (-\Delta + V_+) u \rangle + 2C \|\eta_R u\|_{L^2}^2 \right)$$

= $\inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}} \left(\langle \eta_R u, (-\Delta + V_+) \eta_R u \rangle + \langle \tilde{\eta}_R u, (-\Delta + V_+) \tilde{\eta}_R u \rangle + o(R^0) + 2C \|\eta_R u\|_{L^2}^2 \right),$

since $|\vec{\nabla}\eta_R|^2 + |\vec{\nabla}\tilde{\eta}_R|^2 = o(R^0)$, $R \to \infty$. Next, using that $-\Delta \ge 0$ and that $\sup(\tilde{\eta}_R) \subset B(0,R)^c$, we estimate

$$\mu_{V_{1,C}} \ge \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}} \Big(\Big(\mu_{V_{+}} + 2C \Big) \|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \Big(\inf_{x \in B(0,R)^{c}} V_{+}(x) \Big) \|\tilde{\eta}_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + o(R^{0}) \Big).$$

Since $V_+(x) \to \infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$, there exists $R_0 > 0$ such that for $R \ge R_0$,

$$\inf_{x \in B(0,R)^c} V_+(x) \ge \mu_{V_+} + 2C.$$

Therefore, for $R \geq R_0$, we obtain

$$\mu_{V_{1,C}} \ge \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}} \left(\left(\mu_{V_{+}} + 2C \right) \left(\|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\tilde{\eta}_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right) + o(R^{0}) \right) = \mu_{V_{+}} + 2C + o(R^{0}). \tag{2.2}$$

On the other hand, since $V_{-} \geq 0$, we have that

$$\mu_{V_{+}} \ge \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}} \langle u, (-\Delta + V_{+} - V_{-})u \rangle = \mu_{V}. \tag{2.3}$$

Combining (2.2) and (2.3) gives

$$\mu_{V_{1,C}} \ge \mu_V + 2C + o(R^0).$$

Fixing R large enough, we deduce that $\mu_{V_{1,C}} - \mu_V > C$, which proves the lemma.

To conclude this section, we give a lemma which is useful to prove the existence of minimizers for the energy functional studied in Section 3.

Lemma 2.3. Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1. Let $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a bounded sequence in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ which converges weakly to u_∞ in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$, and strongly in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Then

$$\langle u_{\infty}, (-\Delta + V)u_{\infty}\rangle \leq \liminf_{j \to \infty} \langle u_j, (-\Delta + V)u_j\rangle.$$

Proof. We consider each term of

$$\langle u, -\Delta u \rangle + \langle u, V_1 u \rangle + \langle u, V_2 u \rangle$$
 (2.4)

separately.

The first one is handled using the lower semi-continuity of $\|\cdot\|_{L^2}$. Indeed, as $u_j \to u_\infty$ weakly in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$, it follows that $\nabla u_j \to \nabla u_\infty$ weakly in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and hence

$$\langle u_{\infty}, -\Delta u_{\infty} \rangle = \|\nabla u_{\infty}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \le \liminf_{j \to \infty} \|\nabla u_{j}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \liminf_{j \to \infty} \langle u_{j}, -\Delta u_{j} \rangle. \tag{2.5}$$

For the second term of (2.4), we use Fatou's Lemma, which gives, since $V_1 \geq 0$,

$$\langle u_{\infty}, V_1 u_{\infty} \rangle \le \liminf_{j \to \infty} \langle u_j, V_1 u_j \rangle.$$
 (2.6)

As for the third term in (2.4), we claim that

$$\langle u_{\infty}, V_2 u_{\infty} \rangle = \lim_{j \to \infty} \langle u_j, V_2 u_j \rangle,$$
 (2.7)

for some suitable subsequence that we keep denoting by $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$. Indeed, let $\varepsilon > 0$. We have that $\|\mathbf{1}_{|x|>R_0}V_2\|_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$ for R_0 large enough, since $V_2(x) \to 0$ as $|x| \to \infty$. Therefore, for all j in \mathbb{N} ,

$$\langle u_j, \mathbf{1}_{|x|>R_0} V_2 u_j \rangle \le \varepsilon, \quad \langle u_\infty, \mathbf{1}_{|x|>R_0} V_2 u_\infty \rangle \le \varepsilon.$$
 (2.8)

Next, we approximate $\mathbb{1}_{|x|\leq R_0}V_2$ by a more regular function. More precisely, since $\mathbb{1}_{|x|\leq R_0}V_2$ lies in $L^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$, one can find $V_{2,\varepsilon}$ in $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ such that

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{|x| \le R_0} V_2 - V_{2,\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3/2}} \le \varepsilon.$$

Hölder's inequality together with Sobolev's embedding $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \subset L^6(\mathbb{R}^3)$ then yield

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \langle u_j, \mathbb{1}_{|x| \leq R_0} V_2 u_j \rangle - \langle u_j, \mathbb{1}_{|x| \leq R_0} V_{2,\varepsilon} u_j \rangle \right| &\leq \left\| \mathbb{1}_{|x| \leq R_0} V_2 - V_{2,\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{3/2}} \|u_j\|_{L^6}^2 \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon \|u_j\|_{H^1}^2 \lesssim \varepsilon, \end{aligned} \tag{2.9}$$

since we assumed that $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Likewise,

$$\left| \langle u_{\infty}, \mathbf{1}_{|x| \le R_0} V_2 u_{\infty} \rangle - \langle u_{\infty}, \mathbf{1}_{|x| \le R_0} V_{2,\varepsilon} u_{\infty} \rangle \right| \lesssim \varepsilon. \tag{2.10}$$

Now, since $\mathbb{1}_{|x|\leq R_0}u_j\to\mathbb{1}_{|x|\leq R_0}u_\infty$ strongly in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, and since $V_{2,\varepsilon}$ is bounded, we deduce that

$$\langle u_{\infty}, \mathbf{1}_{|x| \le R_0} V_{2,\varepsilon} u_{\infty} \rangle = \lim_{j \to \infty} \langle u_j, \mathbf{1}_{|x| \le R_0} V_{2,\varepsilon} u_j \rangle. \tag{2.11}$$

Combining (2.8), (2.9), (2.10) and (2.11), we obtain (2.7).

2.2. Some functional inequalities in Lorentz spaces. In the proof of our main results, we will use in a crucial way some functional inequalities in Lorentz spaces that we present in this section. For $1 \leq p < \infty$, the Lorentz spaces $L^{p,\infty} = L^{p,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ are defined as the set of (equivalence classes of) measurable functions $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ such that (1.4) holds.

More generally, for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $1 \leq q \leq \infty$, the Lorentz spaces $L^{p,q} = L^{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ are defined as the set of (equivalence classes of) measurable functions $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ such that the quasi-norm

$$||f||_{L^{p,q}} := p^{1/q} ||\lambda(\{|f| > t\})^{1/p} t||_{L^q((0,\infty),dt/t)}$$

is finite.

For $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $1 \leq q_1 \leq q_2 \leq \infty$, the continuous embedding $L^{p,q_1} \subseteq L^{p,q_2}$ holds. Moreover $L^{p,p}$ identifies with L^p . We will use the following generalizations of Hölder and Young's inequality in Lorentz spaces, see [12, 37, 45, 50] or [28, 1.4.19].

For $1 \leq p_1, p_2 < \infty$, $1 \leq q_1, q_2 \leq \infty$, Hölder's inequality states that

$$||f_1 f_2||_{L^{p,q}} \lesssim ||f_1||_{L^{p_1,q_1}} ||f_2||_{L^{p_2,q_2}}, \qquad \frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2}, \quad \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \frac{1}{q_2},$$
 (2.12)

whenever the right hand side is finite.

Young's inequality states that, for $1 < p, p_1, p_2 < \infty, 1 \le q_1, q_2 \le \infty$,

$$||f_1 * f_2||_{L^{p,q}} \lesssim ||f_1||_{L^{p_1,q_1}} ||f_2||_{L^{p_2,q_2}}, \qquad 1 + \frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2}, \quad \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \frac{1}{q_2},$$
 (2.13)

and for $1 , <math>1 \le q \le \infty$,

$$||f_1 * f_2||_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim ||f_1||_{L^{p,q}} ||f_2||_{L^{p',q'}}, \qquad \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1, \quad \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{q'} = 1.$$
 (2.14)

We have the following estimates that are used several times in Section 3. The first one is an obvious application of the usual Hölder and Young inequalities. The second and third ones are close to the Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality but cannot be directly deduced from it. Recall the convention (1.5) on the Fourier transform.

Lemma 2.4.

(i) Let $u_1, u_2 \in L^2$ and $W \in L^1$. Then, $\|\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * (u_1 u_2)\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|W\|_{L^1} \|u_1\|_{L^2} \|u_2\|_{L^2}. \tag{2.15}$

(ii) Let $u_1, u_2 \in \dot{H}^1$ and $W \in L^{3,\infty}$. Then $W\mathcal{F}(u_1u_2) \in L^1$ and

$$\|\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * (u_1 u_2)\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|W\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u_1\|_{\dot{H}^1} \|u_2\|_{\dot{H}^1}.$$
 (2.16)

(iii) Let $u_1 \in L^2$, $u_2, u_3 \in \dot{H}^1$ and $W \in L^{3,\infty}$. Then $W\mathcal{F}(u_1u_2) \in L^{3/2,\infty}$ and

$$\left\| \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * (u_1 u_2) \right) u_3 \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|W\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u_1\|_{L^2} \|u_2\|_{\dot{H}^1} \|u_3\|_{\dot{H}^1}. \tag{2.17}$$

Proof. To simplify formulas below, we write $w = \bar{\mathcal{F}}(W)$.

(i) directly follows from the Hölder and Young inequalities:

$$||w*(u_1u_2)||_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim ||w||_{L^{\infty}} ||u_1u_2||_{L^1} \lesssim ||w||_{L^{\infty}} ||u_1||_{L^2} ||u_2||_{L^2},$$

which yields (2.15) using $||w||_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim ||W||_{L^{1}}$.

To prove (ii), we use first the Hölder inequality in Lorentz spaces (2.12),

$$\|w * (u_1 u_2)\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|W \mathcal{F}(u_1 u_2)\|_{L^1} \lesssim \|W\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|\mathcal{F}(u_1 u_2)\|_{L^{3/2,1}},$$

and then both the Young (2.13) and Hölder (2.12) inequalities in Lorentz spaces

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{F}(u_1 u_2)\|_{L^{3/2,1}} &\lesssim \|\mathcal{F}(u_1) * \mathcal{F}(u_2)\|_{L^{3/2,1}} \lesssim \|\mathcal{F}(u_1)\|_{L^{6/5,2}} \|\mathcal{F}(u_2)\|_{L^{6/5,2}} \\ &\lesssim \||k|^{-1}\|_{L^{3,\infty}}^2 \||k|\mathcal{F}(u_1)\|_{L^{2,2}} \||k|\mathcal{F}(u_2)\|_{L^{2,2}} \lesssim \|u_1\|_{\dot{H}^1} \|u_2\|_{\dot{H}^1} \,. \end{aligned}$$

To prove (iii), we use first the Young inequality in Lorentz spaces (2.13),

$$\|(w*(u_1u_2))u_3\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|(W\mathcal{F}(u_1u_2))*\mathcal{F}(u_3)\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|W\mathcal{F}(u_1u_2)\|_{L^{3/2,\infty}} \|\mathcal{F}(u_3)\|_{L^{6/5,2}}.$$

The term with u_3 is controlled with the Hölder inequality in Lorentz spaces (2.12),

$$\|\mathcal{F}(u_3)\|_{L^{6/5,2}} \lesssim \||k|^{-1}\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \||k|\mathcal{F}(u_3)\|_{L^{2,2}} \lesssim \|u_3\|_{\dot{H}^1}.$$

The term with u_1 and u_2 is estimated using the Hölder inequality in Lorentz spaces (2.12) first, followed by the Young inequality in Lorentz spaces (2.13),

$$\|W\mathcal{F}(u_1u_2)\|_{L^{3/2,\infty}} \lesssim \|W\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|\mathcal{F}(u_1) * \mathcal{F}(u_2)\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \lesssim \|W\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|\mathcal{F}(u_1)\|_{L^{2,\infty}} \|\mathcal{F}(u_2)\|_{L^{6/5,\infty}}.$$

The term $\|\mathcal{F}(u_2)\|_{L^{6/5,\infty}} \lesssim \|\mathcal{F}(u_2)\|_{L^{6/5,2}}$ is estimated in the same way as $\|\mathcal{F}(u_3)\|_{L^{6/5,2}}$, while

$$\|\mathcal{F}(u_1)\|_{L^{2,\infty}} \lesssim \|\mathcal{F}(u_1)\|_{L^{2,2}} \lesssim \|u_1\|_{L^2}.$$

This proves the lemma.

3. Proof of the main results

In this section, we prove the results stated in Section 1.2. We begin with reducing the problem of the minimization of the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional to the problem of the minimization of a well-chosen Hartree functional in Section 3.1. We prove the existence and uniqueness of a minimizer in Sections 3.2 and 3.3, respectively. In Section 3.4, we derive the asymptotic expansion of the ground state energy at small coupling. Finally, in Section 3.5 we prove the convergence of the ground state and ground state energy in the ultraviolet limit.

Throughout this section, C_V stands for a positive constant depending on V which may vary from line to line.

3.1. The Hartree energy functional. Recall that the Klein-Gordon-Schrödinger energy functional $\mathcal{E}(u, f)$ has been defined in (1.18). The next proposition shows that the minimization problem for \mathcal{E} reduces to the minimization problem for the Hartree energy.

Proposition 3.1. Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and W satisfies Hypothesis 3. We have

$$\inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}, f \in \mathcal{Z}_{u}} \mathcal{E}(u, f) = \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}} J(u), \tag{3.1}$$

where

$$J(u) := \langle u, H_V u \rangle - \|W^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F}(|u|^2)\|_{L^2}^2$$

= $\langle u, H_V u \rangle - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2)(x) |u(x)|^2 dx = \mathcal{E}(u, f_u),$ (3.2)

and

$$f_u := -g\omega^{-1}v\mathcal{F}(|u|^2). \tag{3.3}$$

Moreover $u \mapsto (u, f_u)$ is a bijection between the minimizers of J and those of \mathcal{E} .

Proof. The Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional can be written under the form

$$\mathcal{E}(u,f) = \langle u, H_V u \rangle + \langle \omega^{\frac{1}{2}} f, \omega^{\frac{1}{2}} f \rangle + 2g \Re \left(\omega^{-\frac{1}{2}} v \mathcal{F}(|u|^2), \omega^{\frac{1}{2}} f \right)$$

$$= \langle u, H_V u \rangle + \left\| \omega^{\frac{1}{2}} f + g \omega^{-\frac{1}{2}} v \mathcal{F}(|u|^2) \right\|_{L^2}^2 - g^2 \left\| \omega^{-\frac{1}{2}} v \mathcal{F}(|u|^2) \right\|_{L^2}^2. \tag{3.4}$$

Note that $\omega^{1/2}f$ belongs to L^2 since f is in \mathcal{Z}_{ω} . Moreover, $\omega^{-\frac{1}{2}}v\mathcal{F}(|u|^2)$ belongs to L^2 since

$$g^{2} \|\omega^{-\frac{1}{2}} v \mathcal{F}(|u|^{2})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \|W|\mathcal{F}(|u|^{2})\|_{L^{1}}^{2}$$

$$\leq \|W_{1}\|_{L^{1}} \|\mathcal{F}(|u|^{2})\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|W_{2}\mathcal{F}(|u|^{2})\|_{L^{1}} \|\mathcal{F}(|u|^{2})\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

$$\lesssim \|W_{1}\|_{L^{1}} \|u\|_{L^{2}}^{4} + \|W_{2}\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \|u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} < \infty,$$

where we used Lemma 2.4 in the second inequality. Eq. (3.4) then implies that

$$\mathcal{E}(u, f_u) = \langle u, H_V u \rangle - g^2 \|\omega^{-\frac{1}{2}} v \mathcal{F}(|u|^2)\|_{L^2}^2 = \min_{f \in \mathcal{Z}_w} \mathcal{E}(u, f),$$

and f_u is the unique minimizer of $\mathcal{E}(u, f)$ at fixed u. By our convention (1.5) on the Fourier transform, the energy $\mathcal{E}(u, f_u)$ can be rewritten as the Hartree energy (3.2), which yields the result.

We now establish Proposition 1.1 which gives necessary conditions and sufficient conditions so that f_{gs} belongs to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, where (u_{gs}, f_{gs}) a minimizer of the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional $\mathcal{E}(u, f)$.

Proof of Proposition 1.1. By Proposition 3.1, any minimizer (u_{gs}, f_{gs}) of the Klein-Gordon-Schrödinger energy functional over $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{Z}_{\omega}$ satisfies the relation (3.3):

$$\forall k \in \mathbb{R}^3, \quad f_{gs}(k) = -g\omega^{-1}(k)v(k)\mathcal{F}(|u_{gs}|^2)(k). \tag{3.5}$$

Since $u_{\rm gs}$ is in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$, we have, for all k in \mathbb{R}^3 ,

$$\left| \mathcal{F}(|u_{\mathrm{gs}}|^2)(k) \right| \lesssim \min(1, |k|^{-1}).$$

Moreover, since $\mathcal{F}(|u_{gs}|^2)$ is continuous at k=0 and $\mathcal{F}(|u_{gs}|^2)(0)=1$, we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \le \left| \mathcal{F}(|u_{\rm gs}|^2)(k) \right| \le \frac{3}{2},$$

in a neighborhood of k = 0. Hence we see that sufficient conditions ensuring that f_{gs} belongs to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ are

$$k\mapsto \frac{v(k)}{|k|\omega(k)}{1\hskip-2.5pt{\rm l}}_{|k|\ge 1}\in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)\quad\text{and}\quad k\mapsto \frac{v(k)}{\omega(k)}{1\hskip-2.5pt{\rm l}}_{|k|\le 1}\in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3),$$

while a necessary condition is

$$k \mapsto \frac{v(k)}{\omega(k)} \mathbf{1}_{|k| \le 1} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3).$$

This establishes Proposition 1.1.

In the remainder of this section, we study the Hartree energy functional (3.2). By Proposition 3.1, the results that we prove for the Hartree energy directly imply the corresponding results for the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy.

3.2. Existence of a minimizer. The next proposition gives the existence of a minimizer for the Hartree energy (3.2). It implies Theorem 1.2 from the introduction.

Proposition 3.2. Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and W satisfies Hypothesis 3. There exists $C_V > 0$ such that, if the decompositions of V and W of the form $V = V_1 + V_2$, $W = W_1 + W_2$ in Hypotheses 1 and 3, respectively, can be chosen such that

$$||W_1||_{L^1} + C_V ||W_2||_{L^{3,\infty}} \le \delta(\mu_{V_1} - \mu_V)$$
(3.6)

and

$$C||W_2||_{L^{3,\infty}} \le \frac{1}{2}(1-a),$$
 (3.7)

then the Hartree energy functional (3.2) has a minimizer. Here C and δ are universal constants and a is given by Hypothesis 1.

As mentioned in the introduction, the existence of a minimizer for the Hartree energy has been proven under various conditions in different contexts, but we are not aware of a reference giving the result under our assumptions. We detail the proof of Proposition 3.2 in Appendix B.

Remark 3.3. Writing the Hartree energy in its usual form

$$J(u) = \langle u, H_V u \rangle - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (w * |u|^2)(x) |u(x)|^2 dx,$$
 (3.8)

we have in our context $w = \overline{\mathcal{F}}(W)$ (in the sense of distributions) and it is thus natural to make an assumption on the Fourier transform of the convolution potential w. In other contexts, however, it might be more natural to make hypotheses on w rather than on its Fourier transform. It is straightforward to verify that our proof adapts to the conditions

$$w = w_1 + w_2 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3) + L^{3/2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3),$$

$$||w_1||_{L^{\infty}} + C_V ||w_2||_{L^{3/2,\infty}} \le \delta(\mu_{V_1} - \mu_V), \quad C||w_2||_{L^{3/2,\infty}} \le \frac{1}{2}(1 - a).$$

It suffices to use, instead of (2.15)–(2.16), the inequalities

$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| (w * |u_1|^2) |u_2|^2 \right\|_{L^1} \lesssim \|w\|_{L^{\infty}} \|u_1\|_{L^2}^2 \|u_2\|_{L^2}^2 \,, \\ & \left\| (w * |u_1|^2) |u_2|^2 \right\|_{L^1} \lesssim \|w\|_{L^{3/2,\infty}} \|u_1\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 \|u_2\|_{L^2}^2 \,, \end{aligned}$$

that can be proven using the weak Hölder and Young inequalities (2.12)-(2.14).

- **Remark 3.4.** As in Remark 1.3, in the case of a confining external potential V, one can always find a decomposition $V = V_1 + V_2$ such that (3.6) holds, by Lemma 2.2. Hence a minimizer exists in this case without any restriction on the size of $||W_1||_{L^1}$.
- 3.3. Uniqueness of the minimizer. Now that we have the existence of a minimizer for the Hartree energy functional J, we prove the uniqueness of the minimizer. The next proposition implies Theorem 1.5 from the introduction.

Proposition 3.5. Suppose that V satisfies Hypotheses 1 and 2 and that W satisfies Hypothesis 3. There exists $\varepsilon_V > 0$ such that, if

$$||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \le \varepsilon_V,$$

then J has a unique minimizer u_{gs} in \mathcal{U} such that $\langle u_{gs}, u_V \rangle_{L^2} > 0$.

To prove Proposition 3.5 we use the following decomposition:

$$L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) = \mathbb{C}u_V \oplus (\mathbb{C}u_V)^{\perp},$$

where u_V is the ground state of H_V as in Hypothesis 2, and we write $u = \alpha u_V + \varphi$, with the normalization condition $|\alpha|^2 + ||\varphi||_{L^2}^2 = 1$. The Hartree ground state energy is denoted by

$$E_V := \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}} J(u).$$

We display the dependence on V since the existence of a gap, $E_V < E_{V_1}$, is an important step in our proof of the existence of a minimizer in Appendix B.

Our proof of Proposition 3.5 relies on the following two lemmata. For $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, we set the resolvent $R_{\lambda} := (H_V - \lambda)^{-1}$ (defined, a priori, as an unbounded operator on $\operatorname{Ran}(\mathbf{1}_{\{\lambda\}}(H_V))^{\perp}$). We also recall that $\Pi_V^{\perp} := \mathbf{I} - |u_V\rangle \langle u_V|$.

Lemma 3.6. Suppose that V satisfies Hypotheses 1 and 2 and that W satisfies Hypothesis 3. There exists $\varepsilon_V > 0$ such that, if

$$||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \le \varepsilon_V,$$

then for all global minimizer u in \mathcal{U} of J such that $u = \alpha u_V + \varphi$, with α in \mathbb{C} , φ in \mathcal{Q}_V , and $u_V \perp \varphi$ in L^2 , we have

$$\varphi = 2R_{\lambda_V} \Pi_V^{\perp} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2) u, \quad \lambda_V := E_V - \langle u, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2) u \rangle. \tag{3.9}$$

Proof. We first recall that if u is a minimizer of J, then u is a non-linear Hartree eigenstate,

$$(H_V - 2\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2)u = \lambda_V u \quad \text{in } \mathcal{Q}_V^*, \tag{3.10}$$

where \mathcal{Q}_V^* is the topological dual of \mathcal{Q}_V and λ_V is defined by (3.9). Here H_V should be understood as an operator in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V, \mathcal{Q}_V^*)$. Eq. (3.10) can be proven by using that, for all t in \mathbb{C} and all $u^{\perp} \in \mathcal{U}$ such that $u \perp u^{\perp}$ in L^2 , we have

$$J((1+|t|^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}(u+tu^{\perp})) > E_V.$$

Computing the term of order 1 in t in the asymptotic expansion of the previous expression as $t \to 0$ shows that

$$\langle u^{\perp}, (H_V - 2\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2)u \rangle = 0,$$

for all $u^{\perp} \in \mathcal{U}$ such that $u \perp u^{\perp}$ in L^2 . Hence (3.10) holds for some $\lambda_V \in \mathbb{C}$. Since $J(u) = E_V$, we obtain that λ_V is given by (3.9).

Now, applying Π_V^{\perp} to (3.10) gives

$$(H_V - \lambda_V) \Pi_V^{\perp} u = 2 \Pi_V^{\perp} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2) u.$$
(3.11)

Let $\delta_V := \operatorname{dist}(\mu_V, \sigma(H_V) \setminus \{\mu_V\})$ be the distance from μ_V to the rest of the spectrum of H_V . Recall that Hypothesis 2 implies that $\delta_V > 0$. Using perturbative arguments, it is not difficult to verify that

$$E_V \le \mu_V + \frac{1}{2}\delta_V,\tag{3.12}$$

provided that $||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \le \varepsilon_V$, for some $\varepsilon_V > 0$ small enough (see (B.5) in Appendix B for a precise justification). Moreover, since

$$\langle u, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2) u \rangle = \|W^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F}(|u|^2)\|_{L^2}^2 \ge 0,$$

we also have $\lambda_V \leq E_V$, and hence

$$\lambda_V \le \mu_V + \frac{1}{2}\delta_V \,. \tag{3.13}$$

Therefore the operator

$$(H_V - \lambda_V)\Pi_V^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V, \mathcal{Q}_V^*)$$

is bounded invertible with inverse $R_{\lambda_V}\Pi_V^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V^*, \mathcal{Q}_V)$. Since $\varphi = \Pi_V^{\perp}u$, (3.11) then implies (3.9).

In the following lemma, given u_1 , u_2 two minimizers of J, we decompose as before, for j = 1, 2, $u_j = \alpha_j u_V + \varphi_j$, with $\alpha_j = \langle u_j, u_V \rangle > 0$, $\varphi_j \in \mathcal{Q}_V$ and $u_V \perp \varphi_j$ in L^2 .

Lemma 3.7. Suppose that V satisfies Hypotheses 1 and 2 and that W satisfies Hypothesis 3. There exists $\varepsilon_V > 0$ such that, if

$$||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \le \varepsilon_V,$$

then for all global minimizers u_1 , u_2 in \mathcal{U} of J, we have

$$\|\varphi_1 - \varphi_2\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V} \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} (\|u_1\|_{H^1}^2 + \|u_2\|_{H^1}^2)^2 \|u_1 - u_2\|_{L^2}. \tag{3.14}$$

Proof. Let λ_1 , λ_2 be defined as in Lemma 3.6, namely $\lambda_j = E_V - \langle u_j, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_j|^2) u_j \rangle$. By Lemma 3.6 and the triangle inequality, we have

$$\|\varphi_1 - \varphi_2\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V} \le S_1 + S_2,$$

where

$$S_1 := 2 \| (R_{\lambda_1} \Pi_V^{\perp} - R_{\lambda_2} \Pi_V^{\perp}) (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_1|^2) u_1 \|_{\mathcal{Q}_V},$$

$$S_2 := 2 \| R_{\lambda_2} \Pi_V^{\perp} ((\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_1|^2) u_1 - (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_2|^2) u_2) \|_{\mathcal{O}_V}.$$

We first estimate the second term. From (3.13) we deduce that $R_{\lambda_2}\Pi_V^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V^*, \mathcal{Q}_V)$ and

$$||R_{\lambda_2}\Pi_V^{\perp}||_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V^*,\mathcal{Q}_V)} \le 4\delta_V^{-1}. \tag{3.15}$$

Hence we can estimate

$$S_{2} \leq 8\delta_{V}^{-1} \left\| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{1}|^{2})u_{1} - (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{2}|^{2})u_{2} \right\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}^{*}}$$

$$\leq 8\delta_{V}^{-1} \left\| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{1}|^{2})u_{1} - (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{2}|^{2})u_{2} \right\|_{L^{2}},$$

since $L^2 \subset \mathcal{Q}_V^*$. We obtain from the triangle inequality that

$$S_{2} \leq 8\delta_{V}^{-1} \| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * [(\bar{u}_{1} - \bar{u}_{2})u_{1}])u_{1} \|_{L^{2}}$$

$$+ 8\delta_{V}^{-1} \| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * [\bar{u}_{2}(u_{1} - u_{2})])u_{1} \|_{L^{2}}$$

$$+ 8\delta_{V}^{-1} \| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{2}|^{2})(u_{1} - u_{2}) \|_{L^{2}},$$

and hence Lemma 2.4 yields

$$S_2 \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} (\|u_1\|_{H^1}^2 + \|u_2\|_{H^1}^2) \|u_1 - u_2\|_{L^2}.$$
(3.16)

Now we estimate S_1 . It follows from the resolvent equation that

$$|S_1| \le 2|\lambda_1 - \lambda_2| \| (R_{\lambda_1} \Pi_V^{\perp} R_{\lambda_2} \Pi_V^{\perp}) (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_1|^2) u_1 \|_{\mathcal{O}_V}.$$

Using (3.15) twice, first for R_{λ_2} and next for R_{λ_1} (using also that $Q_V \subset Q_V^*$ in the latter case), and then applying Lemma 2.4, we obtain

$$S_1 \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} \|u_1\|_{H^1}^2 |\lambda_1 - \lambda_2|. \tag{3.17}$$

Since $\lambda_j = E_V - \langle u_j, (\mathcal{F}(W) * |u_j|^2) u_j \rangle$ and $||u_j||_{L^2} = 1$, we can estimate, by the triangle inequality,

$$|\lambda_1 - \lambda_2| \le ||u_1 - u_2||_{L^2} ||(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_1|^2) u_1||_{L^2} + ||(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_1|^2) u_1 - (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_2|^2) u_2||_{L^2}.$$

Using Lemma 2.4 to bound the first term, and the same argument we used to prove (3.16) for the second one, we obtain

$$|\lambda_1 - \lambda_2| \le C_V ||W||_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} (||u_1||_{H^1}^2 + ||u_2||_{H^1}^2) ||u_1 - u_2||_{L^2}.$$
(3.18)

Putting together (3.17) and (3.18) yields

$$S_1 \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}}^2 \|u_1\|_{H^1}^2 (\|u_1\|_{H^1}^2 + \|u_2\|_{H^1}^2) \|u_1 - u_2\|_{L^2}. \tag{3.19}$$

Using $||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \leq \varepsilon_V$ and combining (3.19) and (3.16), we obtain (3.14). Since the role of φ_1 and φ_2 in the left-hand-side of (3.14) is symmetric, this concludes the proof.

We are now ready to prove the uniqueness of a minimizer for the Hartree energy (3.2).

Proof of Proposition 3.5. By Proposition 3.2, we know that the Hartree functional energy J has a minimizer for $||W||_{L^1+L^3,\infty} \leq \varepsilon_V$ with ε_V small enough. Let u_1, u_2 be two minimizers of J. We use the same notations as in the previous proof, decomposing $u_j = \alpha_j u_V + \varphi_j$. Since $\alpha_j = \langle u_j, u_V \rangle > 0$, in order to verify that $u_1 = u_2$, it suffices to prove that $\varphi_1 = \varphi_2$.

To this end, we first show that $||u_j||_{\dot{H}^1}^2$ is bounded by C_V and next apply Lemma 3.7. We can write

$$||u_j||_{\dot{H}^1}^2 \le \langle u_j, H_{V_+} u_j \rangle = J(u_j) + \langle u_j, V_- u_j \rangle - \langle u_j, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_j|^2) u_j \rangle.$$

We have $J(u_j) = E_V$ since u_j is a minimizer, $\langle u_j, V_- u_j \rangle \leq a \|u_j\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + b$ with a < 1 by Hypothesis 1 and $|\langle u_j, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_j|^2) u_j \rangle| \leq C \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} \|u_j\|_{H^1}^2$ for some universal constant C by Lemma 2.4. Therefore

$$||u_j||_{H^1}^2 \le 1 + \frac{1}{1 - a - C||W||_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}}} (E_V + b + C||W||_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}}).$$

Hence, since in addition, by (3.12), $E_V \leq \mu_V + \frac{1}{2}\delta_V$ for $||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \leq \varepsilon_V$ with ε_V small enough, we deduce that $||u_j||_{H^1}^2 \leq C_V$. Lemma 3.7 then implies that

$$\|\varphi_1 - \varphi_2\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V} \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} \|u_1 - u_2\|_{L^2}. \tag{3.20}$$

Now we have

$$||u_1 - u_2||_{L^2}^2 = |\alpha_1 - \alpha_2|^2 + ||\varphi_1 - \varphi_2||_{L^2}^2.$$
(3.21)

To conclude the proof, we show that $|\alpha_1 - \alpha_2|$ can be controlled by $||\varphi_1 - \varphi_2||_{L^2}^2$. Lemma 3.6 and the arguments used in the proof of Lemma 3.7 ensure that $||\varphi_j||_{L^2} \leq \frac{1}{2}$. Indeed,

$$\|\varphi_{j}\|_{L^{2}} \leq \|\varphi_{j}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}} = 2\|R_{\lambda_{j}}\Pi_{V}^{\perp}(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{j}|^{2})u_{j}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}}$$

$$\leq C_{V}\|(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{j}|^{2})u_{j}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}^{*}}$$

$$\leq C_{V}\|(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{j}|^{2})u_{j}\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$\leq C_{V}\|W\|_{L^{1}+L^{3,\infty}}\|u_{j}\|_{H^{1}}^{2}$$

$$\leq C_{V}\|W\|_{L^{1}+L^{3,\infty}},$$

where in the last inequality we used in addition that $||u_j||_{\dot{H}^1}^2 \leq C_V$. Therefore $||\varphi_j||_{L^2} \leq \frac{1}{2}$ for $||W||_{L^1+L^3,\infty} \leq \varepsilon_V$ with ε_V small enough and we can thus estimate

$$\begin{aligned} |\alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2}| &= \left| \left(1 - \|\varphi_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right)^{1/2} - \left(1 - \|\varphi_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \right| \\ &= \left| \frac{\|\varphi_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\varphi_{1}\|_{L^{2}}}{\left(1 - \|\varphi_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right)^{1/2} + \left(1 - \|\varphi_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right)^{1/2}} \right| |\|\varphi_{2}\|_{L^{2}} - \|\varphi_{1}\|_{L^{2}}| \\ &\leq C \|\varphi_{1} - \varphi_{2}\|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.22)

Inserting this into (3.20)–(3.21) and using that $\|\varphi_1 - \varphi_2\|_{L^2}^2 \leq \|\varphi_1 - \varphi_2\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V}^2$, we finally conclude that

$$\|\varphi_1 - \varphi_2\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V} \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} \|\varphi_1 - \varphi_2\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V}.$$

For $||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \leq \varepsilon_V$ with ε_V small enough, this implies that $\varphi_1 = \varphi_2$, which concludes the proof of the proposition.

3.4. Expansion of the ground state energy for small coupling constants. Assuming that V satisfies Hypotheses 1 and 2 and that $W = g^2 \omega^{-1} v^2$ satisfies Hypothesis 3, it follows from Proposition 3.5 that J has a unique ground state in \mathcal{U} , denoted by $u_{\rm gs}$, such that $\langle u_{\rm gs}, u_V \rangle_{L^2} > 0$. The next proposition provides the asymptotic expansion of the Hartree ground state energy (or equivalently the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger ground state energy) stated in Proposition 1.6.

Proposition 3.8. Suppose that V satisfies Hypotheses 1 and 2 and that $W = g^2 \omega^{-1} v^2$ satisfies Hypothesis 3. Then, as $g \to 0$,

$$E_V = J(u_{gs}) = \mu_V - g^2 \int (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1}v^2) * |u_V|^2)(x) |u_V(x)|^2 dx + \mathcal{O}(g^4).$$

Proof. As in Lemma 3.6, we decompose the Hartree ground state $u_{gs} = \alpha_{gs}u_V + \varphi_{gs}$, with α_{gs} in \mathbb{C} , φ_{gs} in \mathcal{Q}_V and $u_V \perp \varphi_{gs}$ in L^2 . By Lemma 3.6, we have

$$\|\varphi_{gs}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}} = 2g^{2} \|R_{\lambda_{V}} \Pi_{V}^{\perp} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1}v^{2}) * |u_{gs}|^{2}) u_{gs} \|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}}$$

$$\leq C_{V} g^{2} \|(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1}v^{2}) * |u_{gs}|^{2}) u_{gs} \|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}^{*}}$$

$$\leq C_{V} g^{2} \|(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1}v^{2}) * |u_{gs}|^{2}) u_{gs} \|_{L^{2}} = \mathcal{O}(g^{2}),$$

the last equality being a consequence of Lemma 2.4. Similarly, using that $R_{\lambda_V} = (H_V - \lambda_V)^{-1}$, we can estimate

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}, H_V \varphi_{\mathrm{gs}} \rangle| &\leq |\lambda_V| \|\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{L^2}^2 + g^4 |\langle \Pi_V^{\perp} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1}v^2) * |u_{\mathrm{gs}}|^2) u_{\mathrm{gs}}, R_{\lambda_V} \Pi_V^{\perp} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1}v^2) * |u_{\mathrm{gs}}|^2) u_{\mathrm{gs}} \rangle| \\ &= \mathcal{O}(g^4). \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.23)$$

Here we used (3.13) which shows that $|\lambda_V|$ is bounded by C_V and that $R_{\lambda_V}\Pi_V^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V^*, \mathcal{Q}_V)$. Besides, since $|\alpha_{gs}|^2 = 1 - \|\varphi_{gs}\|_{L^2}^2$, we have

$$|\alpha_{\rm gs}| = 1 + \mathcal{O}(g^4). \tag{3.24}$$

We can then compute

$$J(u_{gs}) = \langle \alpha_{gs} u_V + \varphi_{gs}, H_V(\alpha_{gs} u_V + \varphi_{gs}) \rangle_{L^2}$$

$$- g^2 \int \bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1} v^2) * |\alpha_{gs} u_V + \varphi_{gs}|^2 (x) |\alpha_{gs} u_V(x) + \varphi_{gs}(x)|^2 dx$$

$$= |\alpha_{gs}|^2 \mu_V + \langle \varphi_{gs}, H_V \varphi_{gs} \rangle_{L^2}$$

$$- g^2 |\alpha_{gs}|^4 \int \bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1} v^2) * |u_V|^2 (x) |u_V(x)|^2 dx + \mathcal{O}(g^4),$$

where in the second equality we used that $H_V u_V = \mu_V u_V$, $u_V \perp \varphi_{gs}$ in L^2 , and Lemma 2.4 in order to obtain the expansion of the convolution term. Inserting (3.23) and (3.24) into the last equality concludes the proof of the proposition.

We conclude this section with the proof of Proposition 1.7 which provides the difference, at second order in the coupling constant, between the ground state energy of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian $\mathbb H$ and the ground state energy of the Klein–Gordon–Schrödinger energy functional.

Proof of Proposition 1.7. Under the conditions of Proposition 1.7, using perturbative methods developed in the literature to study ground states of Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians (see e.g. [6, 8, 30, 34, 35, 48]), it is not difficult to verify that the second-order asymptotic expansion of inf $\sigma(\mathbb{H})$ is given by

$$\inf \sigma(\mathbb{H})$$

$$= \mu_V - g^2 \left\langle u_V \otimes \Omega, a(h_x) (\Pi_V \otimes \Pi_\Omega)^{\perp} (\mathbb{H}_{\text{free}} - \mu_V)^{-1} (\Pi_V \otimes \Pi_\Omega)^{\perp} a^*(h_x) u_V \otimes \Omega \right\rangle + o(g^2),$$

where we recall that Π_V stands for the orthogonal projection onto the ground state u_V of H_V , Π_{Ω} stands for the orthogonal projection onto the Fock vacuum Ω , and $(\Pi_V \otimes \Pi_{\Omega})^{\perp} = \mathbf{I} - \Pi_{\Omega}$. Moreover, $\mathbb{H}_{\text{free}} = H_V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\text{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\text{el}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{\text{f}}$. Decomposing $(\Pi_V \otimes \Pi_{\Omega})^{\perp} = \Pi_V \otimes \Pi_{\Omega}^{\perp} + \Pi_V^{\perp} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\text{f}}$ and using (1.23), we obtain

$$\inf \sigma(\mathbb{H}) = \mu_V - g^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1}v^2) * |u_V|^2 \right) (x) |u_V(x)|^2 dx$$
$$- g^2 \left\langle u_V \otimes \Omega, a(h_x) (\Pi_V^{\perp} \otimes \mathbf{I}_f) \left(\mathbb{H}_{\text{free}} - \mu_V \right)^{-1} (\Pi_V^{\perp} \otimes \mathbf{I}_f) a^*(h_x) u_V \otimes \Omega \right\rangle + o(g^2).$$

A direct computation gives

$$\langle u_V \otimes \Omega, a(h_x) (\Pi_V^{\perp} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{f}}) (\mathbb{H}_{\text{free}} - \mu_V)^{-1} (\Pi_V^{\perp} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{f}}) a^*(h_x) u_V \otimes \Omega \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} v(k)^2 \langle u_V, e^{ikx} \Pi_V^{\perp} (H_V - \mu_V + |k|)^{-1} \Pi_V^{\perp} e^{-ikx} u_V \rangle_{L_x^2} dk,$$

which, together with Proposition 1.6, proves Proposition 1.7.

3.5. **Ultraviolet limit.** We suppose in this section that the coupling function is of the form $v_{\Lambda} = v \mathbb{1}_{|k| < \Lambda}$ for some ultraviolet parameter $\Lambda > 0$ and we write

$$W_{\Lambda} := g^2 \omega^{-1} v_{\Lambda} = W \mathbf{1}_{|k| \leq \Lambda},$$

where we recall that ω stands for the dispersion relation for the bosons and $W = g^2 \omega^{-1} v^2$. Our fist concern is to show that the ground state energies $E_{V,\Lambda}$ defined by

$$E_{V,\Lambda} := \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}} J_{\Lambda}(u), \quad J_{\Lambda}(u) := \langle u, H_V u \rangle - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u|^2 \right) (x) |u(x)|^2 dx,$$

converge to E_V as $\Lambda \to \infty$. As mentioned in the introduction, the main difficulty comes from the fact that, in general, W_{Λ} does *not* converge to W in $L^1 + L^{3,\infty}$. Nevertheless, we can rely on the following easy lemma.

Lemma 3.9. Suppose that W satisfies Hypothesis 3. Let u in Q_V . Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u|^2 \right) (x) |u(x)|^2 dx \xrightarrow{\Lambda \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2 \right) (x) |u(x)|^2 dx, \tag{3.25}$$

and

$$\left\| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W - W_{\Lambda}) * |u|^2) u \right\|_{L^2} \xrightarrow{\Lambda \to \infty} 0. \tag{3.26}$$

Proof. To prove (3.25), we compute

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^{2})(x) |u(x)|^{2} dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u|^{2})(x) |u(x)|^{2} dx
= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (W(k) - W_{\Lambda}(k)) |\mathcal{F}(|u|^{2})|^{2}(k) dk = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} W(k) \mathbf{1}_{|k| \ge \Lambda} |\mathcal{F}(|u|^{2})|^{2}(k) dk.$$

Clearly, for all k in \mathbb{R}^3 , $W(k)\mathbf{1}_{|k|\geq\Lambda}|\mathcal{F}(|u|^2)|^2(k)\to 0$ as $\Lambda\to\infty$. Moreover, since W is in $L^1+L^{3,\infty}$ and u in \mathcal{Q}_V , the proof of Lemma 2.4 shows that $W\mathcal{F}(|u|^2)$ is in L^1 and hence $W|\mathcal{F}(|u|^2)|^2$ belongs to L^1 . Lebesgue's dominated convergence Theorem then proves (3.25).

The proof of (3.26) is similar, using Lemma 2.4(iii) together with Lebesgue's dominated convergence in L^2 .

Now we can prove the convergence of the ground state energies in the ultraviolet limit. The next proposition implies Proposition 1.8 from the introduction.

Proposition 3.10 (Ultraviolet limit of the ground state energies). Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that W satisfies Hypothesis 3. Then

$$E_{V,\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\Lambda \to \infty} E_V$$
.

Proof. First, we observe that for $0 < \Lambda \leq \Lambda'$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u|^{2} \right) (x) |u(x)|^{2} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} W_{\Lambda}(k) |\mathcal{F}(|u|^{2})|^{2} (k) dk \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} W_{\Lambda'}(k) |\mathcal{F}(|u|^{2})|^{2} (k) dk,$$

and therefore $J_{\Lambda} \geq J_{\Lambda'}$. Hence $\Lambda \mapsto E_{V,\Lambda}$ is non-increasing on $(0,\infty)$ and bounded below by E_V . We set

$$E_{V,\infty} := \lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} E_{V,\Lambda} \ge E_V.$$

Now we show that $E_{V,\infty} \leq E_V$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and let $u_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{U}$ be such that $J(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq E_V + \varepsilon$. We have

$$E_{V,\Lambda} \leq J_{\Lambda}(u_{\varepsilon}) = J(u_{\varepsilon}) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (W_{\Lambda}(k) - W(k)) \big| \mathcal{F}(|u_{\varepsilon}|^{2}) \big|^{2}(k) \, \mathrm{d}k$$

$$\leq E_{V} + \varepsilon - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (W_{\Lambda}(k) - W(k)) \big| \mathcal{F}(|u_{\varepsilon}|^{2}) \big|^{2}(k) \, \mathrm{d}k.$$

Applying Lemma 3.9, this yields

$$E_{V,\infty} = \lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} E_{V,\Lambda} \le E_V + \varepsilon.$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, this concludes the proof of the proposition.

Next, we establish the convergence of the ground states of J_{Λ} to the ground state of J, as $\Lambda \to \infty$. Combined with Proposition 3.1, the next result implies Proposition 1.9 from the introduction. Some arguments of the proof below are similar to those used in the proof of the uniqueness of the minimizer of J in Section 3.3. We do not give all the details.

Proposition 3.11 (Ultraviolet limit of the ground states). Suppose that V satisfies Hypotheses 1 and 2 and that W satisfies Hypothesis 3. There exists $\varepsilon_V > 0$ such that, if

$$||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \le \varepsilon_V,$$

then for all $\Lambda > 0$, J_{Λ} and J have unique minimizers $u_{\Lambda,gs}$ and u_{gs} in \mathcal{U} , respectively, such that $\langle u_{\Lambda,gs}, u_V \rangle_{L^2} > 0$ and $\langle u_{gs}, u_V \rangle_{L^2} > 0$. They satisfy

$$||u_{\Lambda,gs} - u_{gs}||_{\mathcal{Q}_V} \xrightarrow{\Lambda \to \infty} 0.$$

Proof. Existence of a unique minimizer for J follows from Proposition 3.5. The same holds for J_{Λ} since, for any $\Lambda > 0$,

$$||W_{\Lambda}||_{L^{1}+L^{3,\infty}} \le ||W||_{L^{1}+L^{3,\infty}}.$$
(3.27)

We write $u = u_{\rm gs}$ and $u_{\Lambda} = u_{\Lambda,\rm gs}$ to simplify expressions below. We decompose $u = \alpha u_V + \varphi$, with a coefficient $\alpha = \langle u, u_V \rangle > 0$, φ in \mathcal{Q}_V and $u_V \perp \varphi$ in L^2 , and likewise $u_{\Lambda} = \alpha_{\Lambda} u_V + \varphi_{\Lambda}$, with a coefficient $\alpha_{\Lambda} = \langle u_{\Lambda}, u_V \rangle > 0$, φ_{Λ} in \mathcal{Q}_V and $u_V \perp \varphi_{\Lambda}$ in L^2 .

In the same way as in the proof of Proposition 3.5, using also (3.27) and the fact that $E_{V,\Lambda}$ is uniformly bounded in Λ (since $E_{V,\Lambda}$ converges as $\Lambda \to \infty$, by Proposition 3.10), we have

$$\|\varphi\|_{L^2} \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}}, \quad \|\varphi_{\Lambda}\|_{L^2} \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}}. \tag{3.28}$$

This yields

$$||u - u_{\Lambda}||_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathcal{V}}} \le C_{\mathcal{V}}|\alpha - \alpha_{\Lambda}| + ||\varphi - \varphi_{\Lambda}||_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathcal{V}}}.$$
(3.29)

The difference $|\alpha - \alpha_{\Lambda}|$ can be controlled by $\|\varphi - \varphi_{\Lambda}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$. Indeed, we have the upper bound $\|\varphi_{\sharp}\|_{L^{2}} \leq C_{V} \|W\|_{L^{1}+L^{3,\infty}} \leq \frac{1}{2}$ for $\|W\|_{L^{1}+L^{3,\infty}} \leq \varepsilon_{V}$ with ε_{V} small enough, where φ_{\sharp} stands for φ or φ_{Λ} . We can thus estimate in the same way as in (3.22),

$$|\alpha - \alpha_{\Lambda}| = \left| \frac{\|\varphi_{\Lambda}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}}}{\left(1 - \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right)^{1/2} + \left(1 - \|\varphi_{\Lambda}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right)^{1/2}} \right| \left| \|\varphi_{\Lambda}\|_{L^{2}} - \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}} \right| \leq C \|\varphi - \varphi_{\Lambda}\|_{L^{2}}.$$

Since $\|\varphi - \varphi_{\Lambda}\|_{L^2} \leq \|\varphi - \varphi_{\Lambda}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V}$, inserting the previous inequality into (3.29) gives

$$||u - u_{\Lambda}||_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}} \le C_{V} ||\varphi - \varphi_{\Lambda}||_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}}. \tag{3.30}$$

Now we estimate $\|\varphi - \varphi_{\Lambda}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V}$. To this end, we use Lemma 3.6, which gives

$$\varphi = 2R_{\lambda_V} \Pi_V^{\perp} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2) u, \quad \lambda_V := E_V - \langle u, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2) u \rangle,$$

$$\varphi_{\Lambda} = 2R_{\lambda_{V,\Lambda}} \Pi_V^{\perp} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u_{\Lambda}|^2) u_{\Lambda}, \quad \lambda_{V,\Lambda} := E_{V,\Lambda} - \langle u_{\Lambda}, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u_{\Lambda}|^2) u_{\Lambda} \rangle.$$

By the triangle inequality,

$$\|\varphi - \varphi_{\Lambda}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V} \le T_1 + T_2 + T_3,\tag{3.31}$$

where

$$T_{1} := 2 \| (R_{\lambda_{V}} \Pi_{V}^{\perp} - R_{\lambda_{V,\Lambda}} \Pi_{V}^{\perp}) (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^{2}) u \|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}},$$

$$T_{2} := 2 \| R_{\lambda_{V,\Lambda}} \Pi_{V}^{\perp} (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W - W_{\Lambda}) * |u|^{2}) u \|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}},$$

$$T_{3} := 2 \| R_{\lambda_{V,\Lambda}} \Pi_{V}^{\perp} ((\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u|^{2}) u - (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u_{\Lambda}|^{2}) u_{\Lambda}) \|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}}.$$

We first estimate the term T_3 . As in (3.13), we have that $\lambda_{V,\Lambda} \leq \mu_V + \frac{1}{2}\delta_V$, with the distance to the lower eigenvalue $\delta_V = \operatorname{dist}(\mu_V, \sigma(H_V) \setminus \{\mu_V\})$. Hence $R_{\lambda_{V,\Lambda}} \Pi_V^{\perp}$ is in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V^*, \mathcal{Q}_V)$ and

$$\left\| R_{\lambda_{V,\Lambda}} \Pi_V^{\perp} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V^*, \mathcal{Q}_V)} \le 2\delta_V^{-1}. \tag{3.32}$$

This yields

$$T_{3} \leq 4\delta_{V}^{-1} \| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^{2}) u - (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{\Lambda}|^{2}) u_{\Lambda} \|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}^{*}}$$

$$\leq 4\delta_{V}^{-1} \| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^{2}) u - (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{\Lambda}|^{2}) u_{\Lambda} \|_{L^{2}},$$

since $L^2 \subset \mathcal{Q}_V^*$. We obtain from the triangle inequality that

$$T_{3} \leq 4\delta_{V}^{-1} \| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * [(\bar{u} - \bar{u}_{\Lambda})u])u \|_{L^{2}}$$

$$+ 4\delta_{V}^{-1} \| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * [\bar{u}_{\Lambda}(u - u_{\Lambda})])u \|_{L^{2}}$$

$$+ 4\delta_{V}^{-1} \| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u_{\Lambda}|^{2})(u - u_{\Lambda}) \|_{L^{2}},$$

and hence Lemma 2.4 yields

$$T_3 \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} (\|u\|_{H^1}^2 + \|u_\Lambda\|_{H^1}^2) \|u - u_\Lambda\|_{L^2}. \tag{3.33}$$

Since in addition we have $||u_{\Lambda}||_{\dot{H}^1}^2 \leq C_V$ (in the same way as in the proof of Proposition 3.5) uniformly in Λ , this gives

$$T_3 \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} \|u - u_\Lambda\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V}. \tag{3.34}$$

Next we estimate T_1 . It follows from the resolvent equation that

$$T_1 \leq 2|\lambda_V - \lambda_{V,\Lambda}| \| \left(R_{\lambda_V} \Pi_V^{\perp} R_{\lambda_{V,\Lambda}} \Pi_V^{\perp} \right) (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^2) u \|_{\mathcal{O}_V}.$$

Using (3.32), the fact that, likewise, $\|R_{\lambda_V}\Pi_V^{\perp}\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V^*,\mathcal{Q}_V^*)} \leq 2\delta_V^{-1}$ and then Lemma 2.4, we obtain

$$T_1 \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{H^1}^2 |\lambda_V - \lambda_{V,\Lambda}| \le C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}} |\lambda_V - \lambda_{V,\Lambda}|. \tag{3.35}$$

The expressions of λ , λ_V imply

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda_{V} - \lambda_{V,\Lambda}| &\leq |E_{V} - E_{V,\Lambda}| + \left| \left\langle u, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) * |u|^{2})u \right\rangle - \left\langle u_{\Lambda}, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u_{\Lambda}|^{2})u_{\Lambda} \right\rangle \right| \\ &\leq |E_{V} - E_{V,\Lambda}| + \left| \left\langle u, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W - W_{\Lambda}) * |u|^{2})u \right\rangle \right| \\ &+ \left| \left\langle u, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u|^{2})u \right\rangle - \left\langle u_{\Lambda}, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{\Lambda}) * |u_{\Lambda}|^{2})u_{\Lambda} \right\rangle \right|. \end{aligned}$$

The last term can be estimated by the same argument we used to bound T_3 . This gives

$$|\lambda_{V} - \lambda_{V,\Lambda}| \leq |E_{V} - E_{V,\Lambda}| + C_{V} ||W||_{L^{1} + L^{3,\infty}} ||u - u_{\Lambda}||_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}} + |\langle u, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W - W_{\Lambda}) * |u|^{2})u \rangle|.$$
(3.36)

To estimate the term T_2 , we write

$$T_2 \le C_V \| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W - W_\Lambda) * |u|^2) u \|_{\mathcal{Q}_V^*},$$

 $\le C_V \| (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W - W_\Lambda) * |u|^2) u \|_{L^2},$ (3.37)

since $L^2 \subset \mathcal{Q}_V^*$.

Putting together (3.30), (3.31), (3.34), (3.35), (3.36) and (3.37), we deduce that

$$\left(1 - C_V \|W\|_{L^1 + L^{3,\infty}}\right) \|u - u_\Lambda\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V} \le C_V \left(|E_V - E_{V,\Lambda}| + \left|\left\langle u, (\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W - W_\Lambda) * |u|^2)u\right\rangle\right| + \left\|(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W - W_\Lambda) * |u|^2)u\right\|_{L^2}\right).$$

For $||W||_{L^1+L^{3,\infty}} \leq \varepsilon_V$ with ε_V small enough, Lemma 3.9 together with Proposition 3.10 then imply that $||u-u_\Lambda||_{\mathcal{Q}_V} \to 0$ as $\Lambda \to \infty$.

APPENDIX A. OPERATORS IN FOCK SPACE, SELF-ADJOINTNESS

A.1. Operators in Fock space. We recall in this section a few well-known properties of basic operators in Fock space. We do not specify their domains. For more details the reader may consult e.g. [11, 13, 47]. Recall that the symmetric Fock space $\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})$ over the one-particle space $\mathfrak{h} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ has been defined in (1.10). For h in \mathfrak{h} , the creation and annihilation operators $a^*(h)$ and a(h) are defined as follows:

$$a^*(h)_{|\bigvee^n \mathfrak{h}} = \sqrt{(n+1)} |h\rangle \bigvee \mathbf{I}_{\bigvee^n \mathfrak{h}}, \quad n \ge 0,$$

$$a(h)_{|\bigvee^n \mathfrak{h}} = \sqrt{n} \langle h| \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\bigvee^{n-1} \mathfrak{h}}, \quad n > 0, \qquad a(h)_{|\mathbb{C}} = 0.$$

Formally, we also have

$$a(h) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \overline{h(k)} a(k) \, \mathrm{d}k, \quad a^*(h) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} h(k) a^*(k) \, \mathrm{d}k,$$

where a(k) and $a^*(k)$ are operator-valued distributions which satisfy the well-known canonical commutations relations

$$[a(k), a(k')] = [a^*(k), a^*(k')] = 0, \quad [a(k), a^*(k')] = \delta(k - k').$$

The field operator $\Phi(h)$ is defined by

$$\Phi(h) = (a(h) + a^*(h))/\sqrt{2}.$$

Let ω be a self-adjoint operator on \mathfrak{h} . The second quantization of ω is defined by

$$\mathrm{d}\Gamma(\omega)_{|\bigvee^n\mathfrak{h}}=\sum_{k=1}^n\mathbf{I}_{\bigvee^{k-1}\mathfrak{h}}\otimes\omega\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\bigvee^{n-k}\mathfrak{h}}.$$

Note that this operator can be expressed in terms of creation and annihilation operators:

$$d\Gamma(\omega) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \omega(k) a^*(k) a(k) dk.$$

The coherent state of parameter f in \mathfrak{h} is the vector in Fock space defined as

$$\Psi_f := e^{i\Phi\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{i}f\right)}\Omega = e^{-\frac{\|f\|_{\mathfrak{h}}^2}{2}}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{f^{\otimes n}}{\sqrt{n!}},$$

where Ω stands for the Fock vacuum. Coherent states are eigenvectors of the annihilation operator in the sense that, for all f, h in \mathfrak{h} , we have

$$a(h)\Psi_f = \langle h, f \rangle_h \Psi_f.$$

This identity implies the following relations:

$$\langle \Psi_f, \Phi(h) \Psi_f \rangle_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})} = 2\mathfrak{Re} \langle h, f \rangle_{\mathfrak{h}}, \qquad \langle \Psi_f, \mathrm{d}\Gamma(\omega) \Psi_f \rangle_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})} = \langle f, \omega f \rangle_{\mathfrak{h}}.$$

These equalities were used to compute the expressions (1.17)–(1.18) of the Pauli-Fierz energy of product stated of the form $u \otimes \Psi_f$.

A.2. Self-adjointness of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian. In the next proposition, we recall the self-adjointness property of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} defined in (1.15). Recall also that the free Hamiltonian \mathbb{H}_{free} has been defined in (1.16).

Proposition A.1. Suppose V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that $W = g^2 \omega^{-1} v^2$ is in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Then \mathbb{H} is a self-adjoint, semi-bounded operator with form domain $\mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H}) = \mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H}_{free})$ for all g in \mathbb{R} .

Proof. Using the well-known N_{τ} -estimates for the creation and annihilation operators, we have

$$\|a(h_x)\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})} \leq \|\omega^{-1/2}h_x\|_{\mathfrak{h}} \|d\Gamma(\omega)^{1/2}\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})},$$

$$\|a^*(h_x)\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})} \leq \|\omega^{-1/2}h_x\|_{\mathfrak{h}} \|d\Gamma(\omega)^{1/2}\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})} + \|h_x\|_{\mathfrak{h}} \|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})}.$$

Note that the quantity $\|\omega^{-1/2}h_x\|_{\mathfrak{h}}$ is well-defined since W is in L^1 . Now, by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathrm{d}\Gamma(\omega)^{1/2} \psi \right\|_{\mathfrak{F}_{s}(\mathfrak{h})}^{2} &= \left\langle \psi, \mathrm{d}\Gamma(\omega) \psi \right\rangle_{\mathfrak{F}_{s}(\mathfrak{h})} \\ &\leq \left\| \psi \right\|_{\mathfrak{F}_{s}(\mathfrak{h})} \left\| \mathrm{d}\Gamma(\omega) \psi \right\|_{\mathfrak{F}_{s}(\mathfrak{h})} \leq \frac{1}{2\varepsilon^{2}} \left\| \psi \right\|_{\mathfrak{F}_{s}(\mathfrak{h})}^{2} + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{2} \left\| \mathrm{d}\Gamma(\omega) \psi \right\|_{\mathfrak{F}_{s}(\mathfrak{h})}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Taking $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough allows us to conclude that there exists a < 1 and b in \mathbb{R} such that, for all ψ in $\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})$, the following inequality holds

$$\|g\Phi(h_x)\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})} \le a \|\mathbb{H}_{\text{free}}\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})} + b \|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})}$$

Therefore $g\Phi(h_x)$ is relatively bounded (and hence also relatively form bounded) with respect to \mathbb{H}_{free} with relative bound less than 1. Applying the KLMN theorem (see e.g. [47, Theorem X.17]) then yields the result.

As mentioned in the introduction, the condition $W \in L^1$ is not satisfied by the polaron model. It is nevertheless proven in [32], by other means, that the polaron Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} also identifies with a semi-bounded self-adjoint operator with form domain $\mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H}) = \mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H}_{\text{free}})$.

APPENDIX B. EXISTENCE OF A MINIMIZER FOR THE HARTREE EQUATION

In this section, we prove the existence of a minimizer for the Hartree energy functional as stated in Proposition 3.2. We write $w = \bar{\mathcal{F}}(W) = g^2 \bar{\mathcal{F}}(\omega^{-1}v^2)$ (where, recall, ω is the field dispersion relation, v is the coupling function and g is the coupling parameter) and display the dependence of the Hartree energy functional (3.2) on the external potential V. In other words, we study in this section the energy functional

$$J_V(u) := \langle u, H_V u \rangle - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (w * |u|^2)(x) |u(x)|^2 dx, \quad u \in \mathcal{U},$$

where $V, w : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ are real potentials, $H_V = -\Delta + V$, and

$$\mathcal{U} = \{ u \in \mathcal{Q}_V \mid ||u||_{L^2} = 1 \},$$

with $\mathcal{Q}_V \subset L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ the form domain of H_V .

We begin with a lemma showing that J_V is well-defined and semi-bounded from below under our assumptions.

Lemma B.1. Assume that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that W satisfies Hypothesis 3. Then $J_V(u)$ is well-defined for all u in U. Moreover, if the decomposition $W = W_1 + W_2$ in Hypothesis 3 can be chosen such that

$$||W_2||_{L^{3,\infty}} < C(1-a)$$

for some universal constant C, where a is as in Hypothesis 1, then

$$E_V := \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}} J_V(u) > -\infty.$$
(B.1)

Proof. Combining (2.15)–(2.16) from Lemma 2.4 and (2.1) from Lemma 2.1, we deduce that, for u in \mathcal{U} ,

$$J_V(u) \le \left(1 + \frac{C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}}{1-a}\right) \langle u, H_V u \rangle + \left(\|W_1\|_{L^1} + \frac{bC\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}}{1-a}\right),\tag{B.2}$$

for some universal constant C, and

$$J_V(u) \ge \left(1 - \frac{C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}}{1-a}\right) \langle u, H_V u \rangle - \left(\|W_1\|_{L^1} + \frac{bC\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}}{1-a}\right).$$
 (B.3)

Therefore, assuming $C||W_2||_{L^{3,\infty}} < 1-a$, we deduce that (B.1) holds.

Next we prove Proposition 3.2. Recall that $\mu_V = \inf \sigma(H_V)$. Below, if \tilde{V} is another potential, we denote by $J_{\tilde{V}}$, $E_{\tilde{V}}$, $\mu_{\tilde{V}}$ the quantities obtained from J_V , E_V , μ_V by replacing V by \tilde{V} .

Proof of Proposition 3.2. Let $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}\subset\mathcal{U}$ be a minimizing sequence for J_V , i.e.

$$J_V(u_j) \xrightarrow[j \to +\infty]{} E_V.$$

The strategy consists in showing that $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges strongly in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, along some subsequence, to a state u_{∞} in \mathcal{Q}_V which is then a minimizer for H_V . We divide the proof into several steps.

Step 1: We prove that

$$E_V < E_{V_1}. \tag{B.4}$$

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Let u_{ε} in \mathcal{U} be such that $\langle u_{\varepsilon}, H_{V} u_{\varepsilon} \rangle \leq \mu_{V} + \varepsilon$. Applying (B.2), we obtain that

$$E_V \le J_V(u_{\varepsilon}) \le \left(1 + \frac{C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}}{1-a}\right) \left(\mu_V + \varepsilon\right) + \|W_1\|_{L^1} + \frac{bC\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}}{1-a}.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, this yields

$$E_V \le \left(1 + \frac{C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}}{1 - a}\right)\mu_V + \|W_1\|_{L^1} + \frac{bC\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}}{1 - a}.$$
 (B.5)

On the other hand, for all u in \mathcal{U} , we can write, using (2.15), (2.16) and the fact that $V_1 \geq 0$,

$$J_{V_1}(u) \ge \langle u, H_{V_1} u \rangle - \|W_1\|_{L^1} - C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{\dot{H}_1}^2$$

$$\ge (1 - C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}) \mu_{V_1} - \|W_1\|_{L^1},$$

and hence

$$E_{V_1} \ge \left(1 - C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\right) \mu_{V_1} - \|W_1\|_{L^1}. \tag{B.6}$$

Combining (B.5) and (B.6) gives

$$E_{V_1} - E_V \ge \left(1 - C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\right) \mu_{V_1} - \left(1 + \frac{C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}}{1 - a}\right) \mu_V - 2\|W_1\|_{L^1} - \frac{bC\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}}{1 - a}$$

$$= \left(1 - C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\right) (\mu_{V_1} - \mu_V) - 2\|W_1\|_{L^1} - C_V\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}, \tag{B.7}$$

where we have set

$$C_V := C \frac{(2-a)\mu_V + b}{1-a}.$$

The right-hand-side of (B.7) is strictly positive since we assumed $C||W_2||_{L^{3,\infty}} \leq \frac{1}{2}(1-a) \leq \frac{1}{2}$ and provided that

$$2\|W_1\|_{L^1} + C_V\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} < \frac{1}{4}(\mu_{V_1} - \mu_V).$$

Step 2: We prove that for all u in \mathcal{U} ,

$$J_V(u) \ge E_V + \left(E_{V_1} - E_V - 4\|W_1\|_{L^1} - C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{H^1}^2\right) \|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2}^2 + o(R^0), \tag{B.8}$$

as $R \to \infty$, for some universal constant C > 0.

Recall that the localizations functions η_R , $\tilde{\eta}_R$ have been defined in (1.6). Writing the decomposition $u = \eta_R^2 u + \tilde{\eta}_R^2 u$ and commuting η_R , $\tilde{\eta}_R$ through $-\Delta$, we have by the IMS localization formula (see e.g. [18])

$$\langle u, H_V u \rangle = \langle \eta_R u, H_V \eta_R u \rangle + \langle \tilde{\eta}_R u, H_V \tilde{\eta}_R u \rangle - \frac{1}{2} \langle u, (|\nabla \eta_R|^2 + |\nabla \tilde{\eta}_R|^2) u \rangle.$$
 (B.9)

The definitions of η_R , $\tilde{\eta}_R$ yield $||\nabla \eta_R|^2||_{L^{\infty}} = \mathcal{O}(R^{-2})$, $|||\nabla \tilde{\eta}_R|^2||_{L^{\infty}} = \mathcal{O}(R^{-2})$. Moreover, since $V_2(x) \to 0$ as $|x| \to \infty$,

$$\langle \tilde{\eta}_R u, H_V \tilde{\eta}_R u \rangle = \langle \tilde{\eta}_R u, H_{V_1} \tilde{\eta}_R u \rangle + o(R^0) \|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|^2.$$

Inserting this into (B.9), we get

$$\langle u, H_V u \rangle = \langle \eta_R u, H_V \eta_R u \rangle + \langle \tilde{\eta}_R u, H_{V_1} \tilde{\eta}_R u \rangle + o(R^0). \tag{B.10}$$

Next we consider the convolution term in $J_V(u)$. We can write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (w * |u|^{2})(x)|u(x)|^{2} dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (w * |\eta_{R}u|^{2})(x)|(\eta_{R}u)(x)|^{2} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (w * |\tilde{\eta}_{R}u|^{2})(x)|(\tilde{\eta}_{R}u)(x)|^{2} dx$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (w * |\eta_{R}u|^{2})(x)|(\tilde{\eta}_{R}u)(x)|^{2} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (w * |\tilde{\eta}_{R}u|^{2})(x)|(\eta_{R}u)(x)|^{2} dx. \quad (B.11)$$

We estimate the last two terms in the right-hand-side of the previous equation. Since W_1 is in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$, using (2.15) yields

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{1}) * |\eta_{R}u|^{2} \right) (x) |(\tilde{\eta}_{R}u)(x)|^{2} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_{1}) * |\tilde{\eta}_{R}u|^{2} \right) (x) |(\eta_{R}u)(x)|^{2} dx \right| \\
\leq 2 \|W_{1}\|_{L^{1}} \|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \|\tilde{\eta}_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq 2 \|W_{1}\|_{L^{1}} \|\tilde{\eta}_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2}. \quad (B.12)$$

Note that in the last inequality we used that $\|\eta_R u\|_{L^2} \leq \|u\|_{L^2} = 1$. Next, since W_2 is in $L^{3,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$, using (2.16) yields

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_2) * |\eta_R u|^2 \right) (x) |(\tilde{\eta}_R u)(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\bar{\mathcal{F}}(W_2) * |\tilde{\eta}_R u|^2 \right) (x) |(\eta_R u)(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \right|$$

$$\leq C \|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|\eta_R u\|_{H_1}^2 \|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2}^2 \leq C \|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{H^1}^2 \|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2}^2 + o(R^0), \quad (B.13)$$

where in the last inequality we used in addition that $\|\eta_R u\|_{H_1} \leq \|u\|_{H^1} + o(R^0)$. Putting together (B.10), (B.11), (B.12) and (B.13), we arrive at

$$J_V(u) \ge J_V(\eta_R u) + J_{V_1}(\tilde{\eta}_R u) - \left(2\|W_1\|_{L^1} + C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{H^1}^2\right) \|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2}^2 + o(R^0).$$
 (B.14)

Now, suppose that $\|\eta_R u\|_{L^2} \neq 0$. Then we can write

$$J_{V}(\eta_{R}u) = \left\langle \frac{\eta_{R}u}{\|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}}, H_{V} \frac{\eta_{R}u}{\|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}} \right\rangle \|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$$

$$- \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(w * \left| \frac{\eta_{R}u}{\|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}} \right|^{2} \right) (x) \left| \frac{\eta_{R}u}{\|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}} (x) \right|^{2} dx \|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{4}$$

$$= J_{V} \left(\frac{\eta_{R}u}{\|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}} \right) \|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(w * \left| \frac{\eta_{R}u}{\|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}} \right|^{2} \right) (x) \left| \frac{\eta_{R}u}{\|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}} (x) \right|^{2} dx \|\eta_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \|\tilde{\eta}_{R}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

By definition of E_V , we have that $J_V(\eta_R u/\|\eta_R u\|_{L^2}) \ge E_V$. Estimating the integrated term as above, using (2.15), (2.16) and $\|\eta_R u\|_{H_1} \le \|u\|_{H^1} + o(R^0)$, we then deduce that

$$J_V(\eta_R u) \ge E_V \|\eta_R u\|_{L^2}^2 - (\|W_1\|_{L^1} + C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{H^1}^2) \|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2}^2 + o(R^0).$$
 (B.15)

Similar arguments show that, if $\|\tilde{\eta}_R u\| \neq 0$, then

$$J_{V_1}(\bar{\eta}_R u)$$

$$\geq E_{V_1} \|\bar{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2}^2 - (\|W_1\|_{L^1} + C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{H^1}^2) \|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2}^2 + o(R^0)$$

$$= (E_{V_1} - E_V - \|W_1\|_{L^1} - C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{H^1}^2) \|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2}^2 + E_V \|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2}^2 + o(R^0). \quad (B.16)$$

We claim that (B.14), (B.15) and (B.16) imply (B.8). Indeed, if $\|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2} = 0$, then $\|\eta_R u\|_{L^2} = 1$ and (B.8) follows from (B.14) and (B.15). If $\|\eta_R u\|_{L^2} = 0$, then $\|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2} = 1$ and (B.8) follows from (B.14) and (B.16). Finally if both $\|\eta_R u\|_{L^2} \neq 0$ and $\|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2} \neq 0$, then combining (B.14), (B.15) and (B.16) gives (B.8), since $\|\eta_R u\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\tilde{\eta}_R u\|_{L^2}^2 = 1$.

Step 3: We prove that $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in \mathcal{Q}_V (equipped with the norm defined in (1.8)), uniformly in W_2 such that $C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \leq \frac{1}{2}(1-a)$, for some universal constant C.

It suffices to show that $(\langle u_j, -\Delta u_j \rangle + \overline{\langle u_j, V_+ u_j \rangle})_{j \in \mathbb{N}} = (\langle u_j, H_{V_+} u_j \rangle)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is bounded. We proceed as in the proof of Lemma B.1. We write

$$\langle u_j, H_{V_+} u_j \rangle = J_V(u_j) + \langle u_j, V_- u_j \rangle + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (w * |u_j|^2) (x) |u_j(x)|^2 dx.$$
 (B.17)

For the second term in the right-hand-side of the previous equation, we use Hypothesis 1, which implies that

$$\langle u_j, V_- u_j \rangle \le a \langle u_j, H_{V_+} u_j \rangle + b \|u_j\|_{L^2}^2.$$
 (B.18)

The third term of the right-hand-side of (B.17) can be estimated using (2.15) and (2.16), namely

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(w * |u_{j}|^{2} \right) (x) |u_{j}(x)|^{2} dx \right| \leq \|W_{1}\|_{L^{1}} \|u_{j}\|_{L^{2}}^{4} + C\|W_{2}\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u_{j}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \|u_{j}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$$

$$\leq \|W_{1}\|_{L^{1}} + C\|W_{2}\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \langle u_{j}, H_{V_{+}} u_{j} \rangle, \tag{B.19}$$

since $||u_j||_{L^2} = 1$. Inserting (B.18)–(B.19) into (B.17), assuming that $C||W_2||_{L^{3,\infty}} < 1 - a$, we obtain

$$\langle u_j, H_{V_+} u_j \rangle \le \frac{1}{1 - a - C \|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}} \Big(J_V(u_j) + b + \|W_1\|_{L^1} \Big).$$
 (B.20)

Since $(J_V(u_j))_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges, it is bounded. This proves that $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in \mathcal{Q}_V . In turn, since we can assume without loss of generality that $J_V(u_j) \leq E_V + 1$ for all j, one easily concludes form the previous equation together with (B.5) that $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in \mathcal{Q}_V uniformly in W_2 such that $C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \leq \frac{1}{2}(1-a)$.

Step 4: By Step 3, we know that $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in \mathcal{Q}_V . Hence there exists a subsequence, still denoted $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$, which converges weakly in \mathcal{Q}_V . Let $u_\infty \in \mathcal{Q}_V$ be its limit. In particular $u_j \to u_\infty$ weakly in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$. We prove that $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges strongly (along some subsequence) to u_∞ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$.

As in Step 2, we write, for R > 0,

$$||u_j - u_\infty||_{L^2}^2 = ||\eta_R(u_j - u_\infty)||_{L^2}^2 + ||\tilde{\eta}_R(u_j - u_\infty)||_{L^2}^2.$$
(B.21)

Consider first the term $\|\tilde{\eta}_R(u_j - u_\infty)\|_{L^2}^2$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. It follows from Step 2 that there exists $R_0 > 0$ such that, for $R \ge R_0$,

$$\|\tilde{\eta}_R u_j\|_{L^2}^2 \le \frac{J_V(u_j) - E_V}{E_{V_1} - E_V - 4\|W_1\|_{L^1} - C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u_j\|_{H^1}^2} + \varepsilon.$$
(B.22)

Here it should be noted that the term $E_{V_1} - E_V - 4\|W_1\|_{L^1} - C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\|u_j\|_{H^1}^2$ is strictly positive. Indeed, we know from Step 3 that $(\|u_j\|_{H^1})_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is bounded uniformly in W_2 such that $C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \leq \frac{1}{2}(1-a)$. Together with (B.7), this shows that

$$E_{V_1} - E_V - 4\|W_1\|_{L^1} - C\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\|u_j\|_{H^1}^2 \ge \frac{1}{2}(\mu_{V_1} - \mu_V) - 6\|W_1\|_{L^1} - (C + C_V)\|W_2\|_{L^{3,\infty}},$$

By the assumption (1.19), the right-hand-side of the previous equation is strictly positive. Returning now to (B.22), using in addition that $J_V(u_j) \to E_V$, we deduce that there exists j_0 in \mathbb{N} such that, for all $j \geq j_0$ (and $R \geq R_0$),

$$\|\tilde{\eta}_R u_j\|_{L^2}^2 \le 2\varepsilon. \tag{B.23}$$

Using the lower semi-continuity of $\|\cdot\|_{L^2}$, we also obtain that, for $R \geq R_0$,

$$\|\tilde{\eta}_R u_\infty\|_{L^2}^2 \le \liminf_{j \to \infty} \|\tilde{\eta}_R u_j\|_{L^2}^2 \le 2\varepsilon.$$
(B.24)

Now fix $R_0 > 0$ such that (B.23)–(B.24) hold and consider the term $\|\eta_{R_0}(u_j - u_\infty)\|_{L^2}^2$ from (B.21). Clearly, since $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges weakly to u_∞ in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$, it follows that $(\eta_{R_0}u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges weakly to $\eta_{R_0}u_\infty$ in $H^1(B_{2R_0})$, where $B_{2R_0} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid |x| \leq 2R_0\}$. The Rellich-Kondrachov Theorem then gives the existence of a subsequence, still denoted by $(\eta_{R_0}u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$,

which converges strongly to $\eta_{R_0}u_{\infty}$ in $L^2(B_{2R_0})$. We can then conclude that there exists an integer $j_1 \geq j_0$, such that, for all $j \geq j_1$,

$$||u_j - u_\infty||_{L^2}^2 = ||\eta_{R_0}(u_j - u_\infty)||_{L^2}^2 + ||\tilde{\eta}_{R_0}(u_j - u_\infty)||_{L^2}^2 \le \varepsilon + 8\varepsilon.$$
 (B.25)

Hence $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges strongly to u_{∞} in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$.

Step 5: We prove that u_{∞} is a minimizer for J_V .

Obviously, since $u_j \to u_\infty$ strongly in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, we have that $||u_\infty||_{L^2} = 1$. Moreover, we clearly have

$$E_V \leq J_V(u_\infty).$$

Hence it remains to show that $J_V(u_\infty) \leq E_V$.

Recall that

$$J_V(u_\infty) = \langle u_\infty, (-\Delta + V)u_\infty \rangle - \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(w * |u_\infty|^2 \right) (x) |u_\infty(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
 (B.26)

By Step 3, (u_j) is bounded in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and by Step 4, (u_j) converges strongly to u_∞ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Hence Lemma 2.3 yields

$$\langle u_{\infty}, (-\Delta + V)u_{\infty}\rangle \leq \liminf_{j \to \infty} \langle u_j, (-\Delta + V)u_j\rangle.$$

It remains to consider the quartic term in (B.26). As in (2.15)–(2.16), we have

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(w * |u_{j}|^{2} \right) (x) |u_{j}(x)|^{2} dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(w * |u_{\infty}|^{2} \right) (x) |u_{\infty}(x)|^{2} dx \right| \\
= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(w * (|u_{j}|^{2} - |u_{\infty}|^{2}) \right) (x) |u_{j}(x)|^{2} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(w * |u_{\infty}|^{2} \right) (x) (|u_{j}(x)|^{2} - |u_{\infty}(x)|^{2} dx \right| \\
\lesssim \left(\|W_{1}\|_{L^{1}} + \|W_{2}\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \right) \left(\|u_{j}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + \|u_{\infty}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \right) \left\| |u_{j}|^{2} - |u_{\infty}|^{2} \right\|_{L^{1}} \\
\lesssim \left(\|W_{1}\|_{L^{1}} + \|W_{2}\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \right) \left(\|u_{j}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + \|u_{\infty}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \right) \|u_{j} + u_{\infty}\|_{L^{2}} \|u_{j} - u_{\infty}\|_{L^{2}} \\
\lesssim \left(\|W_{1}\|_{L^{1}} + \|W_{2}\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \right) \|u_{j} - u_{\infty}\|_{L^{2}},$$

where we used in the last inequality that $||u_j||_{L^2} = 1$ and that $(u_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is bounded in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Since $u_j \to u_\infty$ strongly in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, this yields

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(w * |u_{\infty}|^2 \right) (x) |u_{\infty}(x)|^2 dx = \lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(w * |u_j|^2 \right) (x) |u_j(x)|^2 dx.$$
 (B.27)

Inserting (2.5), (2.6), (2.7) and (B.27) into (B.26), we finally obtain that

$$J_V(u_\infty) \le \liminf_{j \to \infty} J_V(u_j) = E_V.$$

This concludes the proof of the proposition.

References

- [1] Z. Ammari and M. Falconi. Wigner measures approach to the classical limit of the Nelson model: convergence of dynamics and ground state energy. J. Stat. Phys., 157(2):330–362, 2014.
- [2] Z. Ammari and M. Falconi. Bohr's correspondence principle for the renormalized Nelson model. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 49(6):5031–5095, 2017.
- [3] Z. Ammari, M. Falconi, and M. Olivieri. Semiclassical analysis of quantum asymptotic fields in the Yukawa theory. *ArXiv e-prints*, 2021.

- [4] Z. Ammari and F. Nier. Mean field limit for bosons and infinite dimensional phase-space analysis. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 9(8):1503–1574, 2008.
- [5] W. H. Aschbacher, J. Fröhlich, G. M. Graf, K. Schnee, and M. Troyer. Symmetry breaking regime in the nonlinear Hartree equation. *J. Math. Phys.*, 43(8):3879–3891, 2002.
- [6] V. Bach, J. Fröhlich, and A. Pizzo. Infrared-finite algorithms in QED. II. The expansion of the groundstate of an atom interacting with the quantized radiation field. Adv. Math., 220(4):1023– 1074, 2009.
- [7] V. Bach, J. Fröhlich, and I. M. Sigal. Quantum electrodynamics of confined nonrelativistic particles. *Adv. Math.*, 137(2):299–395, 1998.
- [8] V. Bach, J. Fröhlich, and I. M. Sigal. Spectral analysis for systems of atoms and molecules coupled to the quantized radiation field. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 207(2):249–290, 1999.
- [9] V. Bach and A. Hach. On the ultraviolet limit of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian in the Lieb-Loss model. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 23(6):2207–2245, 2022.
- [10] J.-M. Barbaroux, T. Chen, V. Vougalter, and S. Vugalter. Quantitative estimates on the binding energy for hydrogen in non-relativistic QED. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 11(8):1487–1544, 2010.
- [11] F. A. Berezin. The method of second quantization. (Translated by Nobumichi and Alan Jeffrey). Pure and Applied Physics, 24. New York-London: Academic Press. xii, 228 p., 1966.
- [12] N. Bez, S. Lee, S. Nakamura, and Y. Sawano. Sharpness of the Brascamp-Lieb inequality in Lorentz spaces. *Electron. Res. Announc. Math. Sci.*, 24:53–63, 2017.
- [13] O. Bratteli and D. W. Robinson. Operator algebras and quantum statistical mechanics. 2: Equilibrium states. Models in quantum statistical mechanics. Texts Monogr. Phys. Berlin: Springer, 2nd ed. edition, 1997.
- [14] S. Breteaux, J. Faupin, and J. Payet. Quasi-classical ground states. II. Standard model of non-relativistic QED. *Preprint ArXiv*, 2022.
- [15] M. Correggi and M. Falconi. Effective potentials generated by field interaction in the quasiclassical limit. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 19(1):189–235, 2018.
- [16] M. Correggi, M. Falconi, and M. Olivieri. Ground State Properties in the Quasi-Classical Regime. *Anal. PDE*. to appear.
- [17] M. Correggi, M. Falconi, and M. Olivieri. Quasi-Classical Dynamics. *J. Eur. Math. Soc.*, 2022. published online first.
- [18] H. L. Cycon, R. G. Froese, W. Kirsch, and B. Simon. Schrödinger operators, with application to quantum mechanics and global geometry. Springer Study edition. Texts and Monographs in Physics. Berlin etc.: Springer-Verlag. ix, 319 pp.; DM 56.00 (1987)., 1987.
- [19] Y. Deng, L. Lu, and W. Shuai. Constraint minimizers of mass critical Hartree energy functionals: existence and mass concentration. *J. Math. Phys.*, 56(6):061503, 15, 2015.
- [20] J. Dereziński and C. Gérard. Asymptotic completeness in quantum field theory. Massive Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 11(4):383–450, 1999.
- [21] J. Dereziński and C. Gérard. Scattering theory of infrared divergent Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 5(3):523–577, 2004.
- [22] M. Falconi. Classical limit of the Nelson model with cutoff. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 54(1):012303, 2013.
- [23] H. Fröhlich. Theory of electrical breakdown in ionic crystals. II. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond., Ser. A*, 172:94–106, 1939.
- [24] J. Fröhlich and E. Lenzmann. Mean-field limit of quantum Bose gases and nonlinear Hartree equation. Sémin. Équ. Dériv. Partielles, Éc. Polytech., Cent. Math. Laurent Schwartz, Palaiseau, 2003-2004:ex, 2004.
- [25] C. Gérard. On the existence of ground states for massless Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 1(3):443–459, 2000.

- [26] C. Gérard. Scattering theory for the Nelson model and infrared problem. In *Journées "Équations aux dérivées partielles"*, Forges-les-Eaux, France, 2 au 6 juin 2003. Exposés Nos. I-XV, page ex. Nantes: Université de Nantes, 2003.
- [27] J. Ginibre, F. Nironi, and G. Velo. Partially classical limit of the Nelson model. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 7(1):21–43, 2006.
- [28] L. Grafakos. Classical Fourier analysis, volume 249 of Grad. Texts Math. New York, NY: Springer, 3rd ed. edition, 2014.
- [29] M. Griesemer, F. Hantsch, and D. Wellig. On the magnetic Pekar functional and the existence of bipolarons. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 24(6):1250014, 13, 2012.
- [30] M. Griesemer and D. Hasler. Analytic perturbation theory and renormalization analysis of matter coupled to quantized radiation. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 10(3):577–621, 2009.
- [31] M. Griesemer, E. H. Lieb, and M. Loss. Ground states in non-relativistic quantum electrodynamics. *Invent. Math.*, 145(3):557–595, 2001.
- [32] M. Griesemer and A. Wünsch. Self-adjointness and domain of the Fröhlich Hamiltonian. *J. Math. Phys.*, 57(2):021902, 15, 2016.
- [33] Y. Guo and R. Seiringer. On the mass concentration for Bose-Einstein condensates with attractive interactions. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 104(2):141–156, 2014.
- [34] C. Hainzl. One non-relativistic particle coupled to a photon field. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 4(2):217–237, 2003.
- [35] D. Hasler and I. Herbst. Ground state properties in non-relativistic QED. In Mathematical results in quantum physics. Proceedings of the QMath11 conference, Hradec Králové, Czech Republe, September 6–10, 2010. Special session in honour of Ari Laptev. With DVD-ROM, pages 203–207. Hackensack, NJ: World Scientific, 2011.
- [36] C. Kittel and C. Fong. Quantum theory of solids, volume 5. Wiley New York, 1963.
- [37] P. G. Lemarié-Rieusset. Recent developments in the Navier-Stokes problem, volume 431 of Chapman Hall/CRC Res. Notes Math. Boca Raton, FL: Chapman & Hall/CRC, 2002.
- [38] M. Lewin, P. T. Nam, and N. Rougerie. Derivation of Hartree's theory for generic mean-field Bose systems. *Adv. Math.*, 254:570–621, 2014.
- [39] E. H. Lieb and M. Loss. Self-energy of electrons in non-perturbative QED. In *Differential* equations and mathematical physics. Proceedings of an international conference, Birmingham, AL, USA, March 16–20, 1999, pages 279–293. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society (AMS); Cambridge, MA: International Press, 2000.
- [40] E.H. Lieb. Existence and uniqueness of the minimizing solution of Choquard's nonlinear equation. *Stud. Appl. Math.*, 57:93–105, 1977.
- [41] P.-L. Lions. The concentration-compactness principle in the calculus of variations. The locally compact case. I. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Anal. Non Linéaire, 1:109–145, 1984.
- [42] P.-L. Lions. The concentration-compactness principle in the calculus of variations. The locally compact case. II. *Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Anal. Non Linéaire*, 1:223–283, 1984.
- [43] J. Lőrinczi, R. A. Minlos, and H. Spohn. The infrared behaviour in Nelson's model of a quantum particle coupled to a massless scalar field. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 3(2):269–295, 2002.
- [44] E. Nelson. Interaction of nonrelativistic particles with a quantized scalar field. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 5(9):1190–1197, 1964.
- [45] R. O'Neil. Convolution operators and L(p, q) spaces. Duke Math. J., 30:129–142, 1963.
- [46] W. Pauli and M. Fierz. Zur Theorie der Emission langwelliger Lichtquanten. Nuovo Cimento, n. Ser., 15:167–188, 1938.
- [47] M. Reed and B. Simon. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics II: Fourier Analysis, Self-Adjointness. Elsevier Science, 1975.

- [48] I. M. Sigal. Ground state and resonances in the standard model of the non-relativistic QED. J. Stat. Phys., 134(5-6):899–939, 2009.
- [49] H. Spohn. Dynamics of charged particles and their radiation field. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- [50] L. Y. H. Yap. Some remarks on convolution operators and L(p,q) spaces. *Duke Math. J.*, 36:647–658, 1969.
 - (S. Breteaux) UNIVERSITÉ DE LORRAINE, CNRS, IECL, F-57000 METZ, FRANCE *E-mail address*: sebastien.breteaux@univ-lorraine.fr
 - (J. Faupin) UNIVERSITÉ DE LORRAINE, CNRS, IECL, F-57000 METZ, FRANCE *E-mail address*: jeremy.faupin@univ-lorraine.fr
 - (J. Payet) UNIVERSITÉ DE LORRAINE, CNRS, IECL, F-57000 METZ, FRANCE *E-mail address*: jimmy.payet@univ-lorraine.fr